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Chairman’s Statement
F EE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the "Board”) of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Under the continuous impact of the pandemic of 2019 Coronavirus
Disease (COVID-19), the global economy was faced with
unprecedented severe challenges in 2020. In the first half of the year,
owing to strict pandemic prevention measures, domestic economic
activities slowed down, and the challenges facing domestic and
overseas supply chains had brought certain degree of impact on the
logistics industry.

With the improvement in the domestic pandemic situation and the
implementation of the central government’s strict pandemic
prevention measures across the country, the domestic economy
began to gradually return to normal at the end of the second quarter.
However, the continued worsening of the pandemic situation
overseas dampened the normal trade and freight transport activities
between China and overseas markets, which had a certain impact
on the overall logistics and transportation industry.

According to preliminary calculations, China’s gross domestic
product (“GDP") for the whole year of 2020 was approximately
RMB101.6 trillion, an increase of approximately 2.3%' year-on-year,
making the country the only major economy in the world to post a
positive growth under the pandemic. China’s overall economic
environment remained stable. However, the supply of overseas raw
materials for certain production stages was disrupted, and industrial
supply chains were delayed due to the outbreak at the beginning of
the year. Certain clients of the Group were affected by the above
factors, resulting in a slowdown in their business. The Group'’s in-
plant logistics and domestic and overseas transportation businesses
were also inevitably affected.

" https://www.tkww.hk/a/202101/18/AP6004efofedb07ecdffe919b7.html
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the first quarter of the year under review, the raging
pandemic had brought economic activities in most areas of the
mainland China to a temporary standstill. Owing to the restrictions
imposed by the pandemic prevention measures, daily consumption
had also declined. In the second quarter, various economic activities
gradually returned to normal. However, the previous production halt
caused a delay in the supply chain. This coupled with a slowdown in
consumption in the first quarter had made many manufacturers to
take a cautious attitude in business expansion and production rate.
The above factors had led to a decline in the market demand for the
Group's services. As a result, the revenue generated by the Group's
in-plant logistics services and transportation services decreased
compared with that in the previous year. The Group's overall revenue
and consolidated net profit for the year were adjusted year-on-year
in the year under review.

The slowdown in world trade and the challenges from trade barriers
faced by the domestic manufacturing industry added pressure to the
Group'’s third-party logistics business. As one of the few suppliers
that can provide customers with complete in-plant logistics services,
the Group strove to sustain relatively stable business development
by maintaining quality services and providing customers with
comprehensive solutions during the year under review.

Affected by the pandemic, consumption was weak in the first half of
the year, and manufacturers slowed down production accordingly,
resulting in reduced demand for transportation services. Meanwhile,
the implementation of strict preventive measures in the logistics
industry in response to the pandemic had also affected logistics
process efficiency, leading to an increase in the cost of the Group's
transportation business. As a result, there was a downward
adjustment in the Group’s transportation business performance.
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea
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At the end of 2018, the Group set up a company in Egypt for
expansion of overseas logistics business. The company offers local
logistics management services and international freight forwarding
agency services, providing freight forwarding agency services for
many Chinese enterprises in the region. During the year under
review, demand for transportation services in the Middle East was
robust. The revenue of the Group’s company in Egypt during the year
increased by approximately 54% when compared with that of the
previous year, and the company began to provide profit contribution
to the Group. The Group had the foresight to establish a presence in
Egypt, thereby laying a solid foundation for future business
expansion in the Middle East as well as along the Belt and Road.

During the year under review, the Group managed a total of six
warehouses in Guangdong province. During the year, the Guangzhou
municipal government carried out a land resumption plan that
involved the area on which four of the Group’s warehouses were
located. The Group took this opportunity to accelerate the
implementation of the plan for warehouse network optimization. In
the third quarter of 2020, the Group leased a warehouse with a total
gross floor area of over 54,000 square metres in Dongguan city.
Dongguan city, being an important transport hub in the Guangdong
province, enjoys a geographical advantage, and is a key node city
listed in the Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Greater Bay Area. Subsequently, the Group
began to move the goods of some of its customers from the
warehouses in Guangzhou city to the new warehouse in Dongguan
city. By leveraging the advantages of scale and facilities of the new
warehouse in Dongguan city, the Group further integrated its
warehouse resources in the Guangdong province. The Group also
optimized its customer base according to resource deployment, and
actively explored sources of new customers to broaden its customer
base.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Against the backdrop of the pandemic and a slow economic growth,
manufacturers and even distributors have more rigorous control
over “just-in-time"” system. The Group’'s complete logistics supply
solutions can satisfy their needs. During the year, the Group
successfully obtained a number of new customers who are
renowned food and fast-moving consumer goods companies.

During the year under review, the Group persevered with stringent
risk management. The net cash inflow during the year amounted to
approximately RMB5.0 million, while cash and cash equivalents as at
the end of the year amounted to approximately RMB75.0 million. The
Group thus maintained sufficient liquidity to support its business
development. A sound financial position provides favourable
conditions for the Group to capture merger and acquisition
opportunities in the industry in a flexible manner.

PROSPECTS

Looking into 2021, there are still many uncertainties in the global
economic environment. Although the domestic economy is
recovering steadily, many of the overseas economies are still
plagued by the pandemic, and the international flow of people and
goods has been greatly reduced, causing disruption to the supply
chain of the manufacturing industry. The logistics industry faces a
complex and volatile environment. Countries around the world are
rolling out COVID-19 vaccines. When the majority of the population in
various regions have been vaccinated, the cross-border flow of
people and goods, as well as various economic activities are
expected to gradually return to normal. According to the latest World
Economic Outlook Report published by the International Monetary
Fund in January, the global economic growth forecast has been
raised to 5.5%2. The government work report delivered at the 13th
National People’s Congress in early March revealed that the
domestic GDP growth target was set at over 6%°. Upon the
resumption of normal production in the manufacturing industry and
the return of consumer confidence, the demand for logistics and
transportation in various industries is expected to recover steadily.

2 https://inews.hket.com/article/2863224?r=cpsdic
3 https://www.reuters.com/article/china-npc-meeting-gdp-target-0305-idCNKCS2AX04
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Chalrmal’]'S Statement (continuea

China is committed to promoting the upgrading of the logistics
industry, as well as improving the efficiency of goods movement
across the country. On the other hand, the new retail model imposes
higher requirements for efficiency in warehousing, transportation
and logistics and distribution.

eMarketer, a well-known e-commerce research institution, forecast
that global e-commerce retail sales will reach a new high by 2021,
with a growth rate of 265%* from 2014 to 2021. According to the
“Double 11" E-commerce Industry Data Report (2020), there are
more than 3.78 million e-commerce related enterprises in China, in
which, more than 69% of the enterprises have a registered capital of
less than RMB2 million®. Affected by the pandemic prevention and
control measures, restrictions on travel and entertainment have
increased the popularity and growth rate of consumption via
e-commerce. The demand for cross-border e-commerce logistics
and distribution is also expanding rapidly. The Group is actively
developing logistics business for e-commerce. With the Group’s
domestic warehousing network and advanced intelligent logistics
management system, it is expected that the Group will be able to
effectively seize business opportunities and make e-commerce
logistics business an important growth driver for the Group’s
business.

With the support of national policies, the Greater Bay Area will
become another hot spot for economic growth. The Group's 54,000
square metre warehouse facility in Dongguan city can cater for the
storage needs of the industrial areas around Guangzhou city. It also
serves as a distribution centre for domestic and overseas
e-commerce goods, and services the entire Greater Bay Area
through the Group's self-operated and outsourced professional
transportation fleets. Dongguan’s comprehensive external transport
network allows seamless flow of goods and materials between the
city and other parts of the country through sea and land
transportation.

¢ https://beeketing.com/blog/future-ecommerce-2019/
5 https://finance.sina.com.cn/tech/2020-11-09/doc-iiznezxs0796500.shtml
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In the coming year, while identifying sources of new customers, the
Group will further explore the logistics needs of existing customers
and take advantage of its comprehensive logistics solutions. The
Group will also fully utilise the substantial warehousing capacity and
advanced facilities of the warehouse in Dongguan city to further
consolidate its leading position in the logistics industry in the
Guangdong area.

The Group is committed to improving its operation and intelligent
logistics management system. It strives to keep pace with the latest
developments and become an intelligent and digital modern logistics
enterprise. Apart from capital investment in the automated storage
facilities, the Group has also installed a resources development
management system to improve efficiency, control and monitoring
capabilities of transportation and in-plant logistics. It is expected that
the system will effectively manage and carry out the Group's key
logistics business, while also providing quality services and better
experience for customers.

Our office in Egypt has begun to make profit contribution. The growth
of the local business proves that the Group’s office in Egypt, which
serves as a bridgehead to the Middle East, can effectively support
further business expansion to the surrounding areas. The Group is
also exploring the gradual implementation of its strategy of
establishing presence along the Belt and Road.

Uncertainties continue to persist in various sectors in 2021, including
the logistics industry in China. The pace of economic recovery after
the pandemic, international trade relations, and even geopolitics will
still have an impact on the business environment. Enterprises must
remain vigilant and closely monitor the development of the overall
economic situation, and take flexible and decisive measures on a
timely basis to manage market and operating risks. The Group will
adopt a prudent and meticulous approach to explore methods such
as strategic cooperation or merger and acquisition to achieve
business diversification and multi-domain synergy through business
ecosystem, so as to facilitate its horizontal and vertical expansion as
well as cross-industry expansion, and to expand revenue base in the
future.
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Chalrmaﬂ'S Statement (continuea

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of the Company, | would like to express my
heartfelt thanks to our staff for diligently performing their duties and
overcoming difficulties during a challenging year. Their commitment
has enabled the Group to maintain stability in its business amidst
challenges. At the same time, | would like to thank all shareholders
and business partners for their trust and support to the Group’s
management.

Li Jianxin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 March 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group provides a wide range of logistics services to meet the
needs of the customers’ supply chains in the PRC, which include (i)
transportation; (ii) warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv)
customisation services (consisting mainly of labelling services and
bundling services).

The Group offers transportation services which primarily involve the
delivery of the customers’ production materials, components and
finished goods to their downstream clients, manufacturing plants and/
or designated locations. The Group has six warehouses located in the
Guangdong Province with a total gross floor area of approximately
98,000 square metres which offer warehousing services to customers.
The Group's in-plant logistics services cover the management of the
movement of (i) production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the customers” manufacturing
plants; and (i) finished goods out to their factory gate. The Group's
range of services gives it a competitive advantage over other logistics
service providers in the PRC which offer only a limited range of
Services.

Impact of COVID-19 on our operations and
performance

In early 2020, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (the
“"Pandemic”) outbreak brought additional challenges to the Group'’s
operating environment in China. Due to the outbreak of the
Pandemic across the mainland China, a number of provinces took
various emergency public health measures and other actions to
prevent the spread of the Pandemic, including imposing restriction
on the resumption date of work after the Chinese New Year holidays,
compulsory quarantining arrangement, travel restrictions, among
others.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea
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As far as the Group’s businesses are concerned, during the first two
months of 2020, the persisted situation of the Pandemic caused
operational delays to the Group’s customers’ businesses due to
mandatory temporary closure of their manufacturing facilities
required by the PRC government, in particular after the Chinese New
Year holidays, which in turn led to an unprecedented backlog of and/
or suspension in demand for our logistics services during that period.
As a result of the shutdown requirement of our customers’ plants,
we experienced partial interruptions of service resumption ranging
from a few days to a few weeks in February 2020. Moreover, due to
travel restrictions and regional lockdowns, around 13% of our staff
and workers were unable to return to work after the holidays, leading
to a temporary shortage of manpower for full resumption of
operation, hence, lowering our operation capacity and efficiency.
Under these mandated preventive measures and while economic
activities were stagnant during January to March 2020, the Group
encountered an immediate and drastic reduction in revenue
generated from the Group's transportation service of approximately
50.3% and in-plant logistics service of approximately 21.8%, as
compared to the same period of last year. While consumers
continued to hold back on their spending specifically in the first half
of the year, some of our customers which were engaged in the fast-
moving consumer goods business, in response, also adjusted their
production schedules, impacting the demand for our logistics
services. In spite of a gradual alleviation of the Pandemic condition in
China since the second quarter of 2020, the overall demand for the
Group's operation in the provision of both domestic transportation
and international freight forwarding agency service, have yet to
resume to the normal level before the Pandemic. The Pandemic had
caused the Group's revenue from transportation service to decline
by approximately 31.7% for the whole year.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Furthermore, the efficiency of logistics flow was adversely affected
by the Pandemic, which inflated the Group’s operation costs, and
consequently added cost pressure onto the Group’s profits. The
negative impact of the Pandemic on the Group was primarily in the
first half of the year, during which we incurred incremental costs
associated with the Pandemic, such as incurrence of higher
outsourced labour costs in order to maintain a stable labour supply
and to cope with the adjustment of customers’ production
schedules, higher sub-contracting expenses for international freight
forwarding agency service caused by the limited availability of cargo
space from shipping companies, higher general and administrative
expenses in purchasing COVID-19 protection supplies, and additional
costs for disinfection etc. Considering the market uncertainty, the
Group has been managing operating expenses and reducing
marketing and promotion budgets cautiously. In addition, we made
full use of the government subsidy programs, such as reduction in
social security fund contribution and waiver of toll charges, which
lessened our operation costs. Since the Group’s operation is service-
oriented and labour intensive, we have taken measures to minimise
the risk of exposure to infection. We provided our delivery personnel
with face masks, hand sanitizers and other protective equipment
immediately after the outbreak and required all our staff, drivers and
workers to put on face masks at all times when they were on duty
and be highly aware of personal hygiene.

To enhance the revenue stream which used to focus on large-sized
and multi-national customers, the Group has also modified its
business plan by extending its service to more small-to-mid-scale
and temporary customers. During the whole year, there were 23
new customers and they contributed approximately 6% of the total
revenue. Also, the overall recoverability of receivables was positive
and the Group did not encounter material defaults of settlement
during the year.

The Group took pre-emptive actions to strengthen its liquidity by
drawing down banking facilities for possible funding needs. The
Directors have assessed that, based on the latest available cash
balances and bank facilities and prudent estimates of recoverability
of trade receivables and settlement of trade payables, the Group's
liquidity position remained sufficiently healthy to meet its working
capital and capital commitments in the next year.
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Land resumption plans

In early July 2020, the Group was informed by the local government
of forthcoming land resumption plans involving the land at which
four of the Group’s warehouses (the “Relevant Warehouses”) are
situated. The expiry dates of the leases of the Relevant Warehouses
range from January 2022 to April 2027, and the Group has not been
formally notified of the termination of such leases. Nevertheless, in
view of the forthcoming land resumption plans, the Group
considered that the leases will be terminated soon and has
commenced and completed the search for suitable replacement
warehouse(s). The Group was able to lease a warehouse in
Dongguan and it started to operate in the third quarter of the year.
Pending actual termination of the leases of the Relevant
Warehouses, the Group continues its operation as usual.

The leases of the Relevant Warehouses and certain forklifts used in
the Relevant Warehouses are recognised as right-of-use assets with
corresponding lease liabilities pursuant to HKFRS 16. Subject to the
actual termination dates of these leases, the Group estimates that,
based on the latest available information, right-of-use assets with a
carrying amount of approximately RMB36.5 million and lease
liabilities with a carrying amount of approximately RMB36.5 million
may have to be derecognised. In addition, certain property, plant and
equipment with a carrying amount of approximately RMB17.6 million
that are being used or installed in the Relevant Warehouses may be
subject to asset disposal and written-off.

The Directors of the Company consider that any impending
termination of the leases of the Relevant Warehouses will not have
any significant adverse impact on the Group's operation as the new
warehouse in Dongguan will gradually replace the Relevant
Warehouses. Further announcements will be made by the Company
in respect of any material development regarding the termination of
the lease agreements as and when appropriate.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Outlook

The containment of the Pandemic in the macro-economic
environment is still uncertain despite vaccines have been developed
and rollouts of vaccination in China and some other countries. The
extent to which our operations continue to be impacted by the
COVID-19 outbreak will depend largely on future developments,
which are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted. The
Group will continue to assess the impact of the Pandemic on the
Group'’s operations and financial performance and closely monitor
the Group's exposure to the risks and uncertainties in connection
with the Pandemic on an ongoing basis, being cautious about the
scattered cases in China, progress of COVID-19 control, possible
rebound of the Pandemic, prevalent spread of the new virus variants,
and more stringent preventive measures local governments might
implement again, which would limit the Group’s flexibility in the
provision of domestic and international logistics services. The Group
expects to continue experiencing some negative top-line financial
impact in the short-run, but is optimistic about the Group’s operation
performance next year amid the gradual alleviation and the
comparatively more stable and controllable condition of the
Pandemic in China as well as an expected economy growth of 6%*
or above in China in 2021. Having reviewed that subsequent to year
end and up to the date of this annual report, there had been no
significant changes on the Group's latest financial position in terms
of liquidity and gearing, the Group considers that its financial
resources remain sufficiently strong to enable us to navigate through
this pandemic crisis and resume its growth thereafter. To ease the
impact of the Pandemic on our business operations, the Group will
remain cautious and continue to review and act decisively by
enhancing its business continuity plans, ensuring minimal service
disruption to our customers through maintaining a sufficient labour
supply and taking all possible measures, including routine
disinfection of workplace, provision of protective masks, among
others, to maintain a safe working environment for our employees.

* Source: Government Work Report announced at the Fourth Session of the
Thirteenth National People’s Congress in March 2021
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Taking the advantage of the economic development in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (“GBA") and under
the structural development of national dual-circulation, the Group
actively participated in support of the PRC government’s policy on
internal economic circulation model and strategy. The Group took
the initiative to expand its warehousing service operation capacity in
the GBA via setting up a new warehouse with a total gross floor area
of approximately 54,000 square metres in Dongguan, being another
core city center in the GBA vicinity. The provision of warehousing
service covers the entire GBA which cater for the diverse needs of
different industries including e-commerce, pharmaceutical, food and
beverage, consumer goods etc.

Looking forward, the Group will keep leveraging its business
strengths and aim to extend more business opportunities in the
region. The Group also expects to actively diversify the logistics
services to a broader spectrum of industries. Where any potential
change in the customers’ operation demand for logistics services is
anticipated, the Group will also actively consider to explore business
opportunities to accommodate their needs.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Owing to the challenges posed by the unprecedented Pandemic
since early 2020, the overall revenue of the Group decreased by
approximately 11.7% from approximately RMB209.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB185.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Revenue generated from the transportation services recorded a
decrease of approximately 31.7% from approximately RMB96.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately
RMB66.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease
in the transportation services was mainly attributable to a decrease
in customers’ orders for domestic transportation and international
freight forwarding agency services during the year ended 31
December 2020, which was primarily caused by operational delays in
our customers’ businesses resulting from travel restrictions and
home guarantine requirements imposed by local governments
during the first few months of the year, and the cautious slowdown
in customers’ business expansion due to an overall downturn of the
economy, which has led to a decrease in demand for the Group'’s
logistics services. The decrease was partly offset by the revenue
generated from the expansion of transportation business overseas in

Egypt.

Revenue generated from the warehousing services increased by
approximately 20.3% from approximately RMB40.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB48.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020, which was contributed by the
additional demand for our warehousing services from new
customers.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics services decreased by
approximately 3.2% from approximately RMB72.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB69.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020, which was mainly due to the delays
in service resumption by the Group which was caused by local
government measures requiring temporary closure of the customers'
manufacturing plants during the first few months of the year.

Revenue generated from the customisation services amounted to
approximately RMB0.8 million and RMBO0.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, respectively. The
revenue contributed by this segment is subject to the demand for
the Group's labelling and bundling services from its customers on an
as-needed basis.
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Other income, gains and losses

Other income, gains and losses mainly consisted of bank interest
income, government grants and net exchange gains or losses. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, a net gain of approximately
RMB1.4 million (2019: approximately RMB1.8 million) was recognised,
mainly representing (i) government grants received as reward for
employment stabilisation of the Group, (i) an increase in bank
interest income, (iii) value-added tax credit, (iv) gain on lease
modification and (v) an increase in interest income from rental
deposits on application of the HKFRS 16, offset by a net exchange
loss (2019: net exchange gain) arising from the re-translation of
foreign currency denominated monetary items.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (iii)
other allowances and benefits. The Group’s employee benefits
expenses amounted to approximately RMB75.5 million and RMB72.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2020, respectively. The decrease in employee benefits expenses of
approximately RMB2.6 million as compared to that of the year ended
31 December 2019 was primarily attributable to the decrease in the
associated social security fund and insurance contribution following
the local government’s social insurance concession policy, and lower
average monthly basic salary paid to our workers and drivers who
were refrained from duty due to temporary closure of the
warehouses and customers’ manufacturing plants in early 2020. The
decrease was partly offset by the recognition of an equity-settled
share-based expense arising from the grant of share options. The
Directors consider that, subject to the continued implementation of
the social insurance concession policy by the local government in
the coming years, the Group’s social insurance costs may be
increased, impacting the result of the Group. The Group had a total
of 828 and 793 full-time employees as at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2020, respectively.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation services. The
Group’s sub-contracting expenses amounted to approximately RMB46.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately
RMB62.0 million). In general, the subcontractors charged the Group
based on the price stated in the subcontracting agreements which
specify the price for each type of services they provided. Sub-
contracting expenses were incurred for the orders for domestic
transportation service and international freight forwarding agency
services by our customers during the year ended 31 December 2020,
whereby the Group, through outsourcing to independent
subcontractors, assisted the customers to obtain cargo space from
shipping companies or shipping agents that meet their requirements.
The decrease in sub-contracting expenses was in line with the decrease
in the revenue from transportation services.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

The Group has certain leases in respect of (i) premises comprising
warehouses, office premises and temporary staff quarters; and (ii)
plant and machinery such as forklifts. Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 on
1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets and
the corresponding lease liabilities in respect of all leases, except for
short-term leases. Under HKFRS 16, right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its
useful life. As a result, depreciation of right-of-use assets of
approximately RMB17.3 million was recognised for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: approximately RMB17.2 million).
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Finance costs
(i) Interest expense on lease liabilities

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, the lease
liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liabilities are adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. As a
result, an interest expense on lease liabilities of approximately
RMB3.3 million was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: approximately RMB2.9 million).

(ii) Interest expense on bank borrowing

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group drawn
down a short-term bank loan of RMB10.0 million bearing an
effective interest rate of 4.85% per annum and such bank loan
is guaranteed by Mr. Li Jianxin (an executive Director of the
company). Accordingly, an interest expense of approximately
RMBO.1 million was incurred for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: nil).

Professional fee relating to transfer of listing

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company submitted
an application to the Stock Exchange in relation to the Transfer of
Listing and the Transfer of Listing was completed on 19 December
2019. Accordingly, non-recurring professional and consultancy fees
of approximately RMB8.9 million were incurred for the Transfer of
Listing for the year ended 31 December 2019 while the Group did not
incur any of such listing expenses for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expenses
which mainly include fuel costs and maintenance expenses of our
fleet vehicles; (i) utilities expenses which mainly include water and
electricity expenses; (i) office and telephone expenses which mainly
include general office expenses and long-distance calling fees; (iv)
insurance expenses for the warehouses and transportations; (v)
entertainment and travelling expenses for business soliciting; and (vi)
others which mainly include maintenance expenses for the
warehouses, professional fees and other miscellaneous expenses.
Other expenses amounted to approximately RMB27.2 million and
RMB36.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2020, respectively, and such increase was primarily due
to the increase in expenses relating to short-term leases, outsourced
labour costs, professional fees incurred for the Company’s listing
status and recognition of equity-settled share-based expense for
non-employees, which was partly offset by the decrease in fleet
expenses as well as entertainment and travelling for business
soliciting.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a profit and total
comprehensive income for the year of approximately RMB2.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately RMB9.3
million), representing a decrease of approximately RMB6.8 million or
73.6%. Disregarding the impact of certain non-operational expenses,
including equity-settled share-based expense recognized for the
year ended 31 December 2020, and non-recurring expenses,
including Transfer of Listing expenses incurred for the year ended 31
December 2019, respectively, the profit and total comprehensive
income for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 would be
approximately RMB8.1 million and RMB18.2 million, respectively,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB10.1 million or 55.6%.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's operation and investments were financed principally by
cash generated from its own business operations and the proceeds
from the Listing. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current
assets of approximately RMB98.1 million (at 31 December 2019:
approximately RMB88.5 million) and cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB75.0 million (at 31 December 2019: approximately
RMB71.4 million). The Directors confirm that the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due
in the foreseeable future.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of
total bank borrowing and lease liabilities divided by total equity at the
end of the year) of the Group was 45.9% (at 31 December 2019:
57.9%). The Group did not have any bank and other borrowings as at
31 December 2019.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of cash and cash
equivalents, net of bank borrowings and equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves. The Directors review the Group's capital structure regularly.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
issuance of new shares as well as the issue of new debt.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group's business activities are principally in the PRC and are
primarily denominated in RMB. Certain subsidiaries of the Group had
foreign currency sales and purchases, which exposed the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Directors will continuously
monitor the related foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 December
2020 (at 31 December 2019: nil).

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2020 (at 31 December 2019: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total capital commitment
of approximately RMBO0.6 million (at 31 December 2019:
approximately RMB7.2 million), representing capital expenditure
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 793 (at 31 December
2019: 828) full time employees. The Group determines the
employee’s remuneration based on factors such as qualification,
duty, contributions, work experience, the prevailing market
conditions and the Group's remuneration policy. Employees’ benefits
include contributions to retirement scheme and share options under
the Company’s share option scheme. To enhance the expertise of
our employees, the Group also provides them on-the-job training
and sponsors them to attend external training courses and seminars.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Comparison of business
objectives with actual business progress” and “Use of proceeds” of
this annual report, and the impact of the land resumption plans on
possible early termination of the leases of the Relevant Warehouses
which may lead to acquisition and/or installation of new facilities for
the replacement warehouse(s), the Group does not have any
concrete plan for material investments or capital assets for the
coming year.
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2017 (the

“Prospectus”) with the Group's actual business progress for the

period from the date of the Listing to 31 December 2020 is set out

EREREERRBER 2R

ARAFHER2017F9 A29 ARSI (B
BERDMIEBEREAKER LTARES

2020 12 AN B IR ERERERLED
T

below:

Business objectives Implementation plans Actual business progress

X%BER Eike EREBER

Upgrading one of the Obtain quotation from service providers e Service contracts with service providers have been signed and
warehouses by installing and discuss the scope of service with the initial upgrade works on the construction of infrastructure
automated storage service providers facilities have been completed.

facilities and systems
BRREIHERERER
%mﬂ%&ﬁqﬂ*“ﬂé E

Expanding the existing
in-plant logistics business
in the North China and
East China regions

BREAMNESL RERMER
RAERAMRES

BERBHEFRNREL BRGHERY
HRGHE

Install automated storage facilities and
systems in one of the Group's existing
warehouses

RAEEES
ERGNESD

—EREREREEDLE

Conduct market research on the industry
trend and development especially in the
North China and East China regions
RELRERMBRITEBERERAR
MiBHE

Participate in the tendering process of
potential customers
SEBELEPHBERER

Hire approximately 30 additional staff for
the in-plant logistics business
BERMREBINEN0E8T

Rent new forklifts and other equipment
HEMNE RAMEE

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020

DERSEEREEREANY TR ERRERR AN S
FHIE -

The installation has been completed as at the date of this
annual report.
WAFHBAE  RECTH

Market researches on the industry trend and development
were performed.
TEBERERTHZHEDET -

The Group has participated in the tendering process of
potential customers which include several large customers
from the beverage, textile and pharmaceutical industries.
ASEC2RELRP (BESR  HARBETEETAR
P)8BERER

The Group has hired over 30 additional staff for the in-plant
logistics business.
AEECABANRERERER0EET .

The plan has yet to be implemented.
FTEIMRER -
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Business objectives Implementation plans Actual business progress
EKE®R Eikta EREBER
Expanding vehicle fleet e Acquire four trucks for transportation Four trucks have been purchased and put in use.
BAREH o BENHEHRE BREENFRELRALS

e Hire approximately ten additional drivers for Seven additional drivers have been on board.

transportation business MENTARRELNE

o REBEBIELT A%

Enhancing sales and o Participate in industry exhibitions and The Group attended industry exhibitions which include the
marketing efforts trade fairs 2018 Shanghai International Container Exhibition (2018 L&

MAHEREENE o 2EIEREEREHE ERERHERSES) held in Shanghai, PRC, the Third Global

Redesign and maintain the Company's
website for marketing purpose
REHANENRE REEA R

Set up a sales and marketing department

and hire approximately seven sales

specialists
FUHEREHEHFIWEANLELHER

Logistics Technology Conference 2018 (2018 % =& 2 3k #)
A @) held at Haikou, PRC and the Guangdong 21st
Century Maritime Silk Road International Expo Theme
Forum 2019 (019 BR 2114278 L4 v RER BB 2 £ &
$18) held at Guangzhou, PRC.

AREHRTERE (AREEHE DFRTN2018 LEEERE
RHEREE  ETESORMRN018FE=E2RMRRIMA
EREFEBEMERN2019ER 28 AR RERE

EeT@EmE)

The Company's website has been redesigned with more
graphics and picturesque images and has also been
enhanced by adding more company news and industry
information.
ALDRMAREEENR - B
TRAMBERITEER -

MIEZEXRRER - WM

The sales and marketing department has been set up and
four sales specialists were employed.
ERVHEEREHEPHITERANEHEEZES -

Staff representatives of the Group visited customers’ new
factory plants overseas and a company has been set up in
Egypt for expansion of the Group's logistics business
0verseas.

AEENBERREFEPREINOIEE - WARRKY—
AR WRBIMERASENMIRERS -

RAYR (FE) ZERERAT
TECTEER
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FREFERE
AR TR B8 R B BRI FHEBFE
B EHMERAMNMZ) M A3 TEBT -

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the offering of the shares of the Company by
way of share offer, net of underwriting commission and relevant
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$38.8 million.

B - EEEE20204 12 A31 B L HA P8 &k
EFEEARITEINDT

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the date of the
Listing up to 31 December 2020 is set out below:

26

Actual
Planned use of use of net
net proceeds proceeds
(as stated up to
in the 31 December
Prospectus) 2020
HE 2020
BREERFRE 12A31H
AR BE e R BE
BEERE HERRAE
HK$'million HK$'million
ER-3:%v BEAT
Upgrading one of the warehouses by FRTEBBRRHRIER
installing automated storage facilities EEARESP—(ERE
and systems 18.0 18.0
Expanding existing in-plant logistics BB L R E R
business in the North China and RBEMAYIRES
East China regions 6.0 52
Expanding vehicle fleet TR EHRX 4.0 3.1
Enhancing sales and marketing efforts IIRSEE N EHNE 4.0 35
Repaying the bank loans BEEEITER 4.0 40
General working capital —ReEEES 2.8 2.8
Total 45T 38.8 36.6

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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The business objectives as stated in the Prospectus were based on
the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the
Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The use of proceeds
was applied in accordance with the actual development of the
market.

As at 31 December 2020, approximately HK$36.6 million of the net
proceeds from the Listing had been used. The unused net proceeds
have been deposited in licensed banks.

The Company intends to apply the net proceeds in the manner as
stated in the Prospectus. However, the Directors will constantly
evaluate the Group’s business objectives and may change or modify
plans against the changing market condition to attain sustainable
business growth of the Group.

BIRERAENES B R DHERANEERGRERA
P B2 SRR TR M S (A A o PRSFIRM &
EREMGHNEREREM -

2020512 A31H - E#A ET RS RIEIFER
#136.6 B&EET - RBAMBFRFED TR
FRRERTT -

AR R BHETR AR SRR A0 7 U8 R AT 1S BURF
B AT BEEHETHEARENER B
30 T 4 AR B 2 TR S A AT B - X
ERAEENTRHREBER -

BIR (hE) ZRERRE 27
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EENEREEABSERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Jianxin (Rf%), aged 59, was appointed as Director on 22
November 2016 and was redesignated as an executive Director and
appointed as the chairman of the Board on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li
Jianxin is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company and
a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Li Jianxin is responsible
for managing the overall operation and developing the overall
strategic planning and business management of the Group. Mr. Li
Jianxin has over 23 years of experience in the logistics industry and
in managing the Group’s operations and negotiating business deals
with clients. Mr. Li Jianxin has been the vice president of the
Guangzhou Logistics & Supply Chain Association (&N ¥y B2 {H e
# &) since July 2005 and he completed a business administration
course at the Sun Yat-sen University in 2014.

Mr. Li is the younger brother of Mr. Li Jianming (executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company), father of Mr. Li Jiali
(senior management of the Group) and uncle of Mr. Li Jiahao (senior
management of the Group).

Mr. Li Jianming (88 ), aged 61, was appointed as an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company on 31 March
2017. Mr. Li Jianming is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Currently, Mr. Li Jianming is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li Jianming is responsible for
monitoring the business operation and formulating sales strategies
of the Group. He has over 23 years of experience in the logistics
industry. Mr. Li Jianming joined the Group in July 2005 as the general
manager of the operating subsidiary, namely Guangzhou World-Link
(China) Co. Limited (EMFEIRFEAYRABRAF), then known as
Guangzhou Zhonglian World-Link Warehousing and Transportation
Company Limited (BN E IR FEEHEAMR A 7)) and subsequently
became its managing director in August 2016. Mr. Li Jianming
completed his secondary school education in 1976.

Mr. Li is the elder brother of Mr. Li Jianxin (executive Director and
Chairman of the Board), father of Mr. Li Jiahao (senior management
of the Group) and uncle of Mr. Li Jiali (senior management of the
Group).

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Ms. Lin Jianfang (#&1%), aged 48, was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 September 2020. She currently serves as the financial
controller of the Group and a director of Goal Rise Logistics (HK)
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. Ms. Lin joined the Group in
December 1997 and has been the financial manager of Guangzhou
World-Link (China) Co. Limited (BM A BHIRFEHERMAERAT), a
subsidiary of the Company, since January 2008. Ms. Lin is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting, accounting operations,
as well as tax and other compliance related matters. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Lin was an accountant of Guangzhou City Sanling
Jingmao Company (BN =z & A a]) from 1993 to 1997. Ms. Lin
obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the China Central
Radio and TV University (R R EHEER K ) in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence (i&i%if), aged 53, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. He is
the chairman of the Audit Committee. He is currently a director of an
accounting firm based in Hong Kong.

Dr. Wan obtained a bachelor of law degree from the Tsinghua
University, PRC in January 2004; and a doctorate degree of
philosophy in business administration from the Bulacan State
University in the Philippines in May 2006. Dr. Wan is a certified public
accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Dr. Wan has over 10 years of experiences in taxation
advisory, business management and accounting with several
professional accounting firms and companies.

From November 2015 to November 2019, Dr. Wan was an
independent non-executive director of Union Asia Enterprise
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8173). From January 2014 to April 2015, Dr. Wan was an
independent non-executive director of China National Culture Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 745). From December 2015 to September 2018, Dr. Wan
was an independent non-executive director of Trillion Grand
Corporate Company Limited (now known as hmvod Limited), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8103).
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SEREREEAEEE

Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy (#%R#), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Dr. Wu
is the chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Dr. Wu is currently a senior lecturer of the Department of
Accountancy and Law at The Hong Kong Baptist University, where he
has been employed since September 1999. He attained a doctorate
degree in law in December 2003, a postgraduate certificate in law in
June 1994 and a bachelor degree in law in November 1993, all from
The University of Hong Kong. He also obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in November 2013. His writings include the second edition of his co-
authored book on financial services published in early 2015. He is a
co-author of the Guide to Corporate Governance for Subvented
Organisations, the second edition of which was published by the
Hong Kong Government in June 2015.

Dr. Wu was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Convoy Financial Services Holdings Ltd (now known as Convoy
Global Holdings Ltd), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1019), from March 2010 to June 2015
and Wan Leader International Limited, a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8482), from August 2018 to March
2021. From 2006 to 2012, he was a member of the Advisory Group
on Share Capital, Distribution of Profits and Assets and Charges
Provisions for the rewrite of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong), on appointment by the Financial Services
and Treasury Bureau of the Hong Kong Government. From 2011 to
2016, he was a member of the Advisory Group on Modernisation of
Corporate Insolvency Law, also on appointment by the Financial
Services and Treasury Bureau. He has been serving the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants as a director of a
professional diploma programme in insolvency since 2012.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Mr. Shao Wei (BB{&), aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Mr. Shao is a member
of each of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Shao obtained an undergraduate degree in fine chemical
engineering from the Wuxi Institute of Light Industry in July 1998. Mr.
Shao was employed by KPMG Advisory (China) Limited from April
2013 to March 2019. His last position of the same company was a
director where he was responsible for offering management
consultation to clients, with a focus on strategy and business model
development, management and leadership enhancement,
organisation development and operation improvement. He is
currently a director of an internet company based in the PRC.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Jiahao (E %), aged 30, was appointed as the deputy general
manager of the Group in January 2019 and is mainly responsible for
assisting in the Group's business operation. Mr. Li joined Guangzhou
World-Link (China) Co. Ltd (an operating subsidiary of the Company) as
assistant to manager in September 2012, was promoted to project
manager in April 2013 and assistant to general manager in April 2017.
Currently, he is also a director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Li is the son of Mr. Li Jianming (executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company), nephew of Mr. Li Jianxin (executive
Director and Chairman of the Board) and cousin of Mr. Li Jiali (senior
management of the Group).

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor of arts degree in international trade and
business communication from the University of Portsmouth of United
Kingdom in June 2012.
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Mr. Li Jiali (3 5 5), aged 29, was appointed as the deputy general
manager of the Group in January 2019 and is mainly responsible for the
development, operation and strategy of the Group's business including
formulating appropriate logistics planning and strategies, establishing
logistics systems and optimizing logistics operational standards. Mr. Li
joined Guangzhou World-Link (China) Co. Ltd (an operating subsidiary of
the Company) as assistant to general manager in January 2017 and was
promoted to deputy general manager in January 2019, assisting in the
business development and planning of the Group. Currently, he is also a
director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company.

Mr. Li is the son of Mr. Li Jianxin (executive Director and Chairman of the
Board), nephew of Mr. Li Jianming (executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company) and cousin of Mr. Li Jiahao (senior
management of the Group).

Mr. Li obtained a master of science degree in e-business management
from the University of Warwick of United Kingdom in December 2016
and a bachelor of science degree in economics and mathematics from
the University of London of United Kingdom in August 2015.

Mr. Jiang Xianchuan (#& &), aged 59, joined the Group in May 2000
and has been the chief operating officer since April 2010. Mr. Jiang is
mainly responsible for overseeing the Group’s project management and
warehousing and logistics operations. Mr. Jiang has over 19 years of
logistics operation experience. Mr. Jiang completed his high school
education in 1981.

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#&%), aged 44, joined the Group in February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang
is mainly responsible for negotiating the Group's service contracts
with customers and preparation of business performance analysis
and contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (= B 477 S SR g B &
&) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee (& B ¥ it iR £ (L & it & & &) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Ms. Fan Wing Ki (GE§k), aged 46, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 31 March 2017. Ms. Fan is
registered as a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) with The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has over 19 years
of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and corporate
secretarial practices and procedures in Hong Kong. Prior to 2014,
Ms. Fan was employed by C.B. Wong & Co., an accounting firm in
Hong Kong, where her last held position was audit manager. After
her departure in 2014, Ms. Fan started her own practice of Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong.

Ms. Fan obtained a higher diploma in accountancy and a master of
arts degree in international accounting from the City University of
Hong Kong in 1998 and 2005 respectively. She has been a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2002
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2006.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERHRE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). To accomplish this, the Company has adopted
the principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set
out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in the
securities of the Company. Specific enquiry has been made of all the
Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
adopted by the Company and there was no event of non-compliance
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group’s business. The Board is
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-day
operation of the Group’s businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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The main functions performed by the Board include but are not ZZ£Ze€METHTIEBEBEETRRATE
limited to the following matters: 18

&

formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring e BT AEBE RN R - WEBEHE)
the implementation thereof;

e  deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, e REMBERELN W KRE - #]E -
divestments, disposals of assets or any significant capital BEHEIFMEAEARY
expenditure;

e approving of the Group's financial statements, published e HOEREBMMBHRE  BRERSE R
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures BHREAS R ETHREEER KRR

required under the Listing Rules;

e developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate o #I5] - EER Mg AREBM D EEAFER -

governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group's ARAEETBEEE NEEZELRARE
financial controls, internal control and risk management BREMB R
systems;

. Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; EEEMZAREMFEZAREE &

and

i
s

o monitoring the performance of the management. o REBERNRE -

i
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Composition

As at 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS”):

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. Li Jianming (Chief executive officer)
Ms. Lin Jianfang

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this Annual Report.

Except for Mr. Li Jianming being the elder brother of Mr. Li Jianxin,
save as disclosed herein, which to the best knowledge of the
Company, there is no other relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the members
of the Board.

In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed three INEDs, representing more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence, and the Company has assessed and considered
such Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the
various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Attributable to the industry nature of the Group’s business as a
logistics service provider, the Company currently has a dominant
male Board, comprising two male executive Directors, one female
executive Director and three male independent non-executive
Directors. The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences,
including business and operation management, accounting and
taxation, corporate governance, regulatory advisory, business model
and strategy development and logistics operations. The education
background of the Directors ranges from business administration
and accountancy to law and fine chemical engineering, from
education institutions in Hong Kong, the PRC and the Philippines. The
Group has also taken, and will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but not
limited to the Board and senior management levels. To implement
gender diversity at the Board level, the Group has found one female
individual to join the Board in 2020 and will maintain the presence of
female representation at the Board thereafter. The Group will adopt
various measures to identify suitable candidates, such as utilising the
business networks of the Directors and senior management and, if
considered necessary, engaging the services of executive search
agents. It will continue to apply the principle of appointments based
on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.
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Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and board succession
planning, as applicable.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal action against its Directors and officers.

Training and Support for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.
The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. In
accordance with the Code Provision A6.5 of the CG Code regarding
continuous professional development, the Company had received
the training record from each of the executive Directors, namely Mr.
Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming and Ms. Lin Jianfang and each of the INEDs,
namely Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr.
Shao Wei, who had attended training sessions and seminars as well
as read materials on corporate governance, updates on laws, rules
and regulations and accounting/financial/management or other
professional skills to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Board Meetings

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given in a
reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an
agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the
meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general
meeting and the Board committees’ (the "Board Committees”
including, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee) meetings during the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out in the table below:
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REZE2020F12A31BLFEE S EERES
2% BRERSLEEZES((EEERAY
PREZEZES FWZESRIREEZER)Y
HZ P EEHIINTE

Meetings Attended and Eligible to Attend

EHERABRRIHE SR
Annual General
Meeting held
Audit Remuneration  Nomination on 27 May
Board Committee Committee Committee 2020
#2020
5P 27 B#fTZ
EEg guzEE FHERE REEEE BRAFEXE
Executive Directors HEE
Mr. Li Jianxin RigmEs 4/4 N/A TER N/A T E R 11 11
Mr. Li Jianming b diedi e 4/4 N/A TEA 1n N/A @R 1n
Ms. Lin Jianfang HaF Lt 1/1 (Note) (#1iz) N/A T N/A T N/A T B N/A i B
Note:  Ms. Lin was appointed as Director on 1 September 2020, after which only one board meeting was held up to 31 December 2020.
Bfat - MEER200F9R1BRZAAES  EAEZNNF 12 A BEET—RESEEHE -
Independent non-executive Directors B34 /7E %
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence BEREL 4/4 2/2 N/A T E R N/A @ 17
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy HRERL 4/4 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Shao Wei x4 4/4 212 1n 17 17
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FEREEHITE

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the “"CEQ") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The roles of the Group’s Chairman and CEO are
complimentary, but importantly distinct and separate. Mr. Li Jianxin,
executive Director, is the Chairman and is responsible for the
leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while Mr. Li Jianming, executive Director, is the CEO and
is responsible for monitoring the business operation and formulating
sales strategies of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a fixed term of service of three years commencing
from 26 September 2020 and renewable automatically for successive
terms of one year commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the then term of appointment.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, were
established by the Board with defined terms of reference explaining
their respective roles and the authority delegated by the Board.
These defined terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference (as revised on 30 January 2019)
in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C.3 of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, namely, Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2020.

ate Govemance RepOrt continea)

BYFHTES

EBUNRTEECREARNRT HERE
& 7 AR 75 BAMR B 2020 F 9 A 26 A5t REI=5F -
YR EBARERRE—FEHADHEE—F -

EEZEY
EFRCRU-EEEEEE  DBHREES -
FWEEERRLEAS AR EEANER

BXENAEREREZERTNES - 1LEH
2 HER B 7 R BN AR R B S A Ut o

EXZEQARHARERBETRE  RARNE
EERTHKBYIEXER - BAARNARRIE -

BEZLE®

AABER20177 59 B26 BRI Em R AIZE 3.21
E323 R EMARBIM SR 14FE Z D EE AT
REERREBECIBHUEZREZES » Ha]
T EEBEEE (R 2019F1 A30 AER]) -
BEREZEENIEREARINEXEMOETR

RemEEgHBEEdE  BHVBRREEMM
BERBNEAZR  WREREAEENREER
EpREERT

EVZBEM-RBUFRTES (ARERE
T AREE L REMELE) AKX - RERIBL
EEZZBEIF  ABEENEXERNE
&5 - BEERZEGNE RAR BRSNS
ZENIRE e FAEMRA FEENTTHRIESRA -

REE2020F12ANALFE EFGEHEX
ZEGUWREBRD -

IR (FE) ZRERDE

—B-BEEY

41



42

corpor
(B R E o

During the year ended 31 December 2020, two meetings of the Audit
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s interim
and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and compliance
under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the re-
election of auditor of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 3.25 to 3.27 of the Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the CG
Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianming, and two INEDs, being
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A.5 of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianxin, and two INEDs, being Dr.
Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 30 January 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

o character and integrity

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

J any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board

o requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company

o such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning
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Nomination Process

@

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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(b)  Re-election of Director at General Meeting

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Ms. Lin Jianfang was
appointed as an executive Director on 1 September 2020. Biography
of Ms. Lin is summarised under the section “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management”.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting, at which all members of the
Nomination Committee (i) reviewed the structure, size and
composition as well as the diversity of the Board; (ii) assessed the
independence of the INEDs; and (iii) recommended to the Board for
consideration the re-appointment of all the retiring Directors at the
Annual General Meeting. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company'’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The Company has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its
external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2020. Details of
the fees paid/payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the year
are as follows:

ate Governance Report contined
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RMB’000

ARBTT

Audit services FEAZIRTE 1,124
Non-audit services IEEZARTS -
Total 4t 1,124

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group's external auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 72 to 80 of
this Annual Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has entered into a service contract with an external
service provider, pursuant to which Ms. Fan Wing Ki (“Ms. Fan”)
was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 31
March 2017. Ms. Fan is not an employee of the Group and she is
responsible for advisory to the Group on corporate governance
matters. Ms. Lin Jianfang, financial controller of the Group, is the
person whom Ms. Fan can contact for the purpose of code provision
F.1.1 of the CG Code. Ms. Fan has been informed of the requirement
of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, and she confirmed that she had
attained no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year of 2020. Biographical information of Ms. Fan is set
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("'EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM shall
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

ate Governance Report contined
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Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such guestions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Room 1106, 11/F, Sterling Centre, 11 Cheung Yue Street,
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong or via telephone at +86 20
38770505.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Companies Law"). However, pursuant to the articles
of association, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To reflect the transfer of listing of the issued shares of the Company
from GEM of the Stock Exchange to the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 19 December 2019, the articles of association of the
Company has been amended following the passing of a special
resolution by the Shareholders in the 2020 annual general meeting.
Save as disclosed, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2020.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the Shareholders and the Company, in general, information
is communicated to the Shareholders mainly through the Company’s
interim reports, annual reports and quarterly reports (if any), general
meetings, as well as the corporate communications and publications
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and on the Company's website (www.goalrise-china.com).
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The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor
will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Group establishes and maintains appropriate review on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which cover financial, operational and
compliance controls, to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the
Group's assets. The Board oversees the overall risk management of
the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating
measures. The principal risks and the relevant measures have been
disclosed in the section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in
the Report of the Directors contained in this Annual Report. The
Group's systems of risk management and internal controls are
designed to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute, assurance against the risk of material misstatement, fraud
or loss.
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The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management and external auditors, conducted a
review of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2020 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing
restrictions. Any inside information and any information which may
potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified,
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on
the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in due course.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending or
declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements, future
business growth and its shareholding value.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

TRANSFER OF LISTING

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing”) and have
been transferred from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 19 December 2019 (the “Transfer of Listing").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set forth in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of logistics services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 27 of this Annual Report. These discussions
form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, major risks are summarised below and further details
of the Group'’s financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in note 29(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Concentration risk of reliance on limited nhumber of
customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue from a limited
number of customers. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
five largest customers of the Group contributed approximately 86.5%
of total revenue to the Group. There is a risk that these significant
customers to cancel or terminate the service agreements with the
Group without cause and no assurance that these significant
customers will continue their business relationship with the Group or
that the revenue generated from these customers will increase or be
maintained in the future. The Group will continue to expand the
customer base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The industry in which the Group operates is fragmented. The Group
may be less competitive than some of its competitors in terms of
scale of operations and cannot assure that it will be able to continue
to compete successfully in its existing markets. The Group is
committed to compete in the market based on its ability to provide
comprehensive, flexible and reliable logistics services to its
customers and price.

Reliance on subcontractors for handling transportation
services

Certain transportation services are subcontracted to independent
third party subcontractors. Performance of our subcontractors for
transportation services may fail to meet the requirements of the
Group or those of our customers which may lead to a delay or failure
in delivering our services to our customers. There is no assurance
that the Group would be able to closely monitor the performance of
the subcontractors but the Group will try to maintain and enhance its
business relationship with the subcontractors for providing good
quality of transportation services to the customers.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

REERFETFHET AR

AEENBEERNZFEIBAS W - B
E2020F 2ANALFE  AEEBRREFHM
EERNBEIEBERENBE5% - IWEEREF
BAFERR  RARKE S BRIV SE
EARKENRFBHE - mASELARELFEKR
EFSEREAEBERFEBRE  TEERE
et FF P EROWER B RS E M ER T
o REBBEERAT P BEURERE

BABF

AEBEFMBOTMS DA - ARBELERE L E
HBFE DRI INE THREHTF - HABERE
HiGse B ER BTG LR HET - KEE
HHERBRMAEFRHEZ2E - BIENAIEDR
ARIEHIBE ) R ERAET S L3RS -

kB BEEREERRE

ETERRBOBTBEUE=FD8H - MW
D EERERRFARRATEE LR EAKEHL
BAEPHENR - HAlgER AR E PR HR
577 EA PTERR AR BEIR L RTS - BFIEERE
AEEREATIESRD BANKER  BAKE
R DER IR E RS BRNEBRE - K
REPRHEEBFNERRE -



Report of the Directors wontines
EEG R

0§}

Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (the
“"Pandemic”)

The Group's business is subject to the general economic and social
conditions in China. Pandemics may adversely affect the economy
as well as livelihood of the people. The unprecedented emergence of
the Pandemic in 2020 has led to the implementation of national-wide
preventive measures by the PRC government including travel
restrictions, home quarantine requirements, mandatory close-down
of production facilities, city lockdowns, among others. All these
measures brought disruptions to our business operations in certain
extent and in turn affected our operating results for the year. During
the peak stage of the Pandemic in China, the Group experienced
interruptions of service resumption; provision of transportation
service, in-plant logistics service and warehousing service were
partly interrupted ranging from a few days to a few weeks, resulting
in a drastic drop in revenue generated from these major operation
segments. The development and containment of the Pandemic
remained uncertain amidst the recent rollouts of vaccines in China
and some other countries. Any changes in the development of the
Pandemic, such as rebound of the Pandemic, progress of COVID-19
control, prevalent spread of new virus variants, among others, may
bring both operational and financial impact on the Group's business.
To manage the risks and impact of the Pandemic on the Group’s
operations, the Group will continue to review and act decisively by
enhancing its business plans, ensuring minimal service disruption to
our customers through maintaining a sufficient labour supply and
taking all possible measures, including routine disinfection of
workplace, provision of protective masks, among others, to maintain
a safe working environment for our employees.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services so
that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group's standards at all
times.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. The establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date
of this report, the Group has complied in material aspects with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Further details are disclosed in
the “"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which will be
published on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 34 to 50 of this Annual Report.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

AEERPAEEZFRFRFBENERE  BE
FREMEREFTERERNRY - XEEES
REFPHEFHOURBTERYE A SEZNTI5S
TR EAKEENEEOETNSER - FEULIE
SRIKULRAR - REBINRUIEFRIERP R
FEIR M B AR BOR B P AR AR

E

FEESHS BHRBEEHE  EE
BURER — L & R S E Rk -

HRER

BFERERER
AEEZQEXRBETERARRETREZHER
BT MARBARS RIEB M LT - Bt
HR U RERAETHERBBBRIERER -
REE2020F 12 AN B IEFERBERRER
AL AEEDRERTEETHEEEEN
BB RERER -

BEBRRERR

AEBRARFAFELRLFRENEEN - I

ERASRER - REBRERLETRRAR
ERBER o #E— S BNRE LR A 27
BENRE LERERRS | WEE XK

TAIE B B IRTE AN A B) BBk 32 A ) AR R AR 0 TR o

EER

ARBRHANBBHBERNELEBEREFT X
FEREER - ARARMANEIZLEERER
HBEHERAFRFEMBEF0ANEEERRSE °



Report of the Directors wontines
EEG R

0§}

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 174
of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 84 of this Annual Report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and retained profits,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
amounted to approximately RMB1.2 million (2019: RMB10.4 million),
of which nil dividend was proposed for the year. Under the
Companies Law, the share premium account of the Company of
approximately RMB37.8 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB37.8 million) is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of
association and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The Company'’s share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company or the prospectus
of the Company dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”), is
set out on pages 175 to 176 of this Annual Report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September
2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the Listing. The
Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following the
Transfer of Listing and in full compliance with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
Eligible Persons (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) as
rewards or incentives for their contribution to the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option
Scheme. Upon acceptance of the share option, the Eligible Person
shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares of the Company, being 10% of
the total number of shares in issue at the time dealings in the shares
first commence on the Stock Exchange and there was no change in
the total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued share
capital that it represented as at the date of this report.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
Participant (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.
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The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to Share
Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each Participant and shall be the highest of () the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the share options, which
must be a trading day of the Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the share
options; and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

No share option was granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme save for that on 1 June 2020, the Company offered to grant
an aggregate of 73,400,000 share options (the “Share Options”) to
certain Directors, employees and consultants of the Company (the
"Grantees”), subject to acceptance of the Grantees, under the
Share Option Scheme. The Share Options will enable the Grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 73,400,000 shares, representing
approximately 9.175% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. The validity period of the Share Options is ten
years from the date of grant and the exercise price of the Share
Options is HK$0.188 per share. The Share Options have no vesting
period. The estimated fair value of the Share Options granted was
approximately RMB5,612,000. Since then, the Group has not granted
any share options under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of
this report. None of the Share Options of the Company was
exercised, lapsed, cancelled or forfeited during the year ended 31
December 2020.

Details of the options granted to the Grantees under the Share
Option Scheme and movements in such holdings during the year
ended 31 December 2020 were as follows:
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Number of share options
RkEsA
Exercise At Granted At
price 1 January during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant Exercise period per share 2020 the year 2020
20205 TREER 720205
ERA wRHAM friEsim BRTER 1818 (554401 128 31H
(Note 1) (HKS) (Note 2)
(Hz1) () (Hfz#2)
Directors
¢
Mr. Li Jianxin 1 June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 - 800,000 800,000
31 May 2030
Rk e 2020F6A1H 2020%F6A18%
20304 5A31H
Mr. Li Jianming 1 June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 - 800,000 800,000
31 May 2030
REREAE 2020%6A1H 2020%6A18%
203045 A31H
Ms. Lin Jianfang 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 - 8,000,000 8,000,000
31 May 2030
Sl e 202056 A1H 202056818
20304 5A31H
Dr.Wan Ho Yuen, Terence 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 - 800,000 800,000
31 May 2030
BEREL 2020F6A18 2020%F6A18%
20304 5A31H
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy 1June 2020 1June 2020 t0 0.188 - 800,000 800,000
31 May 2030
HREBT 2020F6A1H 2020F6A18%
203045 A31H
Mr. Shao Wei 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 - 800,000 800,000
31 May 2030
BbETE 202056 A1H 200%6818%
20304 5A31H
Employees 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 - 57,000,000 57,000,000
31 May 2030
E& 2020%6A1H 2020%F6A18%
20304 5A31H
Consultants 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 - 4,400,000 4,400,000
31 May 2030
R 2020F6A1H 2020F6F10Z
203045 A31H
Total - 73,400,000 73,400,000
w5t
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Notes:

1. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the date of
grant of the Share Options was HK$0.19 per share.

2. The Share Options have no vesting period.

The fair value of the options granted on 1 June 2020 was calculated
by an external professional valuer using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model. The assumptions used were as follows:

ez -

1. ARRIBMORREBBAER T B AT 2 W EAER0.19
BT

2. B mEE -

R2020F 6 A1 AR HHBEREAFEHIIDE
REERRA B BREEEELAE - A
BERWAT

2020

2020 F

Share price of the Company at date of grant REE B EIAR T ZRE HK$0.188 8 7T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.188 /& 7T
Expected volatility SEE 41.606%
Expected life B R 10 years %
Risk-free rate R R T = 0.529%
Expected dividend yield 8 HARE B R 0.00%
Early exercise multiple for directors ERRPITEGEH 2.300
Early exercise multiple for employees REIRPITEER 2.200
Early exercise multiple for non-employees FRERESITERDE 2.200

The expected volatility is based on historical price volatility of listed
companies that are similar in business nature with the Company in
the past few years. The risk-free rate was determined with reference
to the yields of Hong Kong Sovereign Curve as extracted from
Bloomberg as at 1 June 2020. The dividend yield of 0% was adopted
which is with reference to the Company’s historical dividend payout.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of
the share options are based on the management's best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of a number of
subjective assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the
Binomial Option Pricing Model. Any change in the variables so
adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an
option.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin
Mr. Li Jianming
Ms. Lin Jianfang (appointed on 1 September 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Li Jianming, Ms. Lin Jianfang and Dr. Wu Ka Chee,
Davy will retire by rotation and be eligible to offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the Group,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 28 to 33 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors, hamely Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming and
Ms. Lin Jianfang, have entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of the
Listing, the date of the Listing and 1 September 2020, respectively
and renewable automatically for successive terms of one year
commencing from the next day after the expiry of the then term of
employment.

The independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Wan Ho Yuen
Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy and Mr. Shao Wei, have entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three
years commencing from 26 September 2020 and renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year commencing from
the next day after the expiry of the then term of appointment.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The
remuneration of the executive Directors is subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee, and their remuneration is determined
with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the
independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS' INFORMATION

Changes in the information of the Directors which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out
below:

(i) Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy (an INED of the Company) has resigned
his role as independent non-executive director of Wan Leader
International Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 8482) with effect from 31 March 2021.

(i) Mr. Li Jiali and Mr. Li Jiahao were included as senior
management of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020. Mr. Li Jianxin (executive Director of the Company) and
Mr. Li Jianming (executive Director of the Company) are the
father of Mr. Li Jiali and Mr. Li Jiahao, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at 31 December 2020 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2020 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Ccompany, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company:

EERESTHRAERKRAD - HE
RORBEZPHEER AR

MR20206 12 A318 » EERARARZREITHRA
ERARASEEMBEEZE(EERES KD
EIEO([BEREER ) EXVEH)HKkG - 48
RGO RESFT  BERBEESRAEGKIIE7
k8D EAME AR R LI R FTHIERIKE (B
EIREE F R ERDIE B GRS E FR
RBEENRERIAE)  SREBEHSF XSG
8 352 R ZB AC 8 N B A I P 5 5 50 17 PO O A 2 ok
KA IRE ETRAIMER 10T E ETHEITAZE
FRITHAZR HNEETAEMNG AN B LB
FrRtEmsA B AT

RAR B KRB AR

Number of Approximate
Shares and percentage of
underlying total issued
Shares Shares
Name of Directors Capacity B&in R AHRA ERITHRAAR
EXEgs 213 K& E i F ol=F2 474
(Note 2)
(MF3E2)
Mr. Li Jianxin Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 (Note 3) 37.91%
interest held jointly with another
person
R A XEslEEER BB - ATHRA (MF5E3)
FAE R
Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.1%

BEmfa A
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Number of Approximate
Shares and percentage of
underlying total issued
Shares Shares
Name of Directors Capacity Bin R ERA BRITRAAR
ERElR S Bip& B #BHhaatt
(Note 2)
(P 2)
Mr. Li Jianming Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 (Note 3) 37.91%
interest held jointly with another
person
RGRAAL A TG EEER B — AT HE (Pf5E3)
e sl=ok: £
Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.1%
EnlEEA (FFEET)
Ms. Lin Jianfang Beneficial owner 8,000,000 (Note 1) 1.0%
MEIF 2+ EmHEA A (MFzE1)
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.1%
EERB L EmHEA A (MFzE1)
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.1%
EEA EmHEAA (MFzE1)
Mr. Shao Wei Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.1%
e BB A (MH5E1)
Notes: BisE -
1. These interests in underlying Shares represent the interests in share options 1. ZERNEERODESERIBEBERETERTESNE
granted to the Directors under the Share Option Scheme. Details of which are [t - ARG BENARE [BARE & —& -

shown in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2020 (i.e. 800,000,000 2. 720204 12 A 31 B 89 2 % 17 B 17 42 21 ( B1800,000,000
Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage. A1) E R EMABE DL -
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& Goal Rise Profits Limited ("Goal Rise") is the registered and beneficial owner
holding 303,300,000 Shares representing approximately 37.91% of the issued
shares of the Company. The issued share capital of Goal Rise is owned as to 80%
by Mr. Li Jianxin and 20% by Mr. Li Jianming. By virtue of acting in concert
arrangement between Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming which is confirmed and
documented in the Concert Parties Confirmatory Deed, each of Mr. Li Jianxin and
Mr. Li Jianming is deemed to be interested in the entire shareholding interests of
Goal Rise in the Company under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Options granted to the Directors as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report were rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or (i) requires the Company enter into any agreement that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020 or subsisted at
the end of the year.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FERRARG REERDPIE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND wmRKRE

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the — 20205128318 @ BEEMHME » FHIALOE
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the FFEEHARFTHZSITHAE) RIH SEER
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in - 5 F#E 5B sk 48 A B R IE B 5 & S &6 XV
the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to #8552 & 39 ¥ 1& S /B A AN A &) 3 58 10 7 28 3%
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of & : siaR s AR R R B 5 & 215 &0 5 336
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept  (KBFE Z MM SOX A  skE#E R
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or  #E A& B A K FME(Al 150 TRl E AR A BRI AR R
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any K& - Z e (E (A48 RIRR AN 18 5% 3k A - #ES -
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at

general meetings of the Company:

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares and total issued
underlying Shares
Shares BT
Name of shareholders Capacity B {7 R E R B {7 R
BREE =4V] B in8E #BHaask
(Note 1)
(M7E1)
Goal Rise Beneficial owner 303,300,000 37.91%
27t Em#BA
Ms. Chen Ruihua Interest of spouse (Note 2) 304,100,000 38.01%
PRImIE L + feiBaiEs (MisE2)
Ms. Wu Xiaojie Interest of spouse (Note 3) 304,100,000 38.01%
RNRI L fefBr iz (M13E3)
Mr. Zhu Zhijian (“Mr. Zhu") Interest in a controlled corporation 166,700,000 20.84%
(Note 4)
REBRSE ([REED ZEshEEER (isd)
Portree Wealth Limited Beneficial owner (Note 4) 166,700,000 20.84%

("Portree Wealth")
BBV EARRAT
(IEBEME)

EDEAA (B4

@I CRE) ERERAT 7

e



68

Report of the Directors coninea
EEERE

Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2020 (i.e. 800,000,000
Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage.

2. Ms. Chen Ruihua is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianxin and accordingly, she was deemed
to be interested in all the shares in which Mr. Li Jianxin was interested by virtue
of the SFO.

3. Ms. Wu Xiaojie is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianming and accordingly, she was deemed
to be interested in all the shares in which Mr. Li Jianming was interested by virtue
of the SFO.

4. Portree Wealth is the registered owner holding approximately 20.84% of the
issued shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Portree Wealth
is owned by Mr. Zhu. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares registered under the name of Portree Wealth.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors are
not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Company.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits
Limited, in respect of their compliance with the non-competition
undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed such undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Li Jianxin,
Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits Limited have complied with the
non-competition undertaking during the year ended 31 December
2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, charitable donations of
approximately RMB10,000 were made by the Group (2019:
RMB26,000).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 46.6% (2019: 41.8%) of the Group’s total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 77.3%
(2019: 74.1%) of the Group's total direct costs.

RARBYENERR R BRI A - BEASE
RigAEIEBRARRET TR RS AF
[EHERE - BUIENTERCEHE AR LR
BEREFRE  REBLEEREASERAF
REZE2020F512A31AEFEAEETFIRF
G o

BE HEIEEEAQAFT LHERS

HZE2020F12A3MBLEFEREEAREDE
Bl ARBRRETARBARMERE  HE
BRI ART ETES

BLABEERE
BIEMRFASERE - A0 AE R EIR AR
288 (R AEMAK LM AVERE) AL M
AR AR RIARERA BRI L G153 & H R
BB -

DBFERENTZM
RERDATARESHER RAEEHRD - R
AFRAY  ARTEBTRABENE D 25%
MARALHE -

B
HE2020F12A31BILFE > AEBEEHEE
B34 A R ¥ 10,000 7T (2019 F = A R # 26,000
JT) °

FRHEBREF

REEFE  AEERAEEFEAEBEER
RABEAA)46.6% (20194 1 41.8%) - AEBE A K
HIER G AEB BB A EREL77.3% (2019 F -
74.1%) °
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In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 86.5% (2019: 89.8%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
30.9% (2019: 31.0%) of the Group's total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017 with
written terms of reference (as revised on 30 January 2019) in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and any questions regarding resignation or
dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the financial
statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if any), and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including review of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they
are advised to consult an expert.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company will be held on
Monday, 31 May 2021. A notice convening the AGM will be issued
and sent to the shareholders of the Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 25 May 2021 to Monday, 31 May 2021, both days inclusive
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM or any
adjournment thereof, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
24 May 2021.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any important events affecting the Group,
which have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2020 and up to
the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 were audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
the independent auditor, who shall retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and to authorise the Directors
to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Li Jianxin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
& Az B RN R

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GOAL RISE LOGISTICS (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED
@74 (hE) EERRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
81 to 174, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS BRETSEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RBIEEFE=EATEETSNEEHE P HFTAH
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 4R AMBREAMERAEENEH - BENE
financial statements of the current period. These matters were s EEGAUERRLIBFEKERBEIEZE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 8 BEE T ep%EEEHRRER -
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
FRBENFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ESEEMNTEEREENERNSE

Estimated provision of expected credit losses for trade receivables

B 5 E B ARE GRS R

We identified the estimated provision of expected  Our procedures in relation to estimated provision of expected
credit losses for trade receivables as a key audit  credit losses for trade receivables included:

matter due to the significant management judgment ZEEME SEKGENTEHREEHBHTRENEFRE

involved in assessing the recoverability of trade
receivables.

EEE HRWTIENTEBEEREE MG P REE
RESAEE DENEERENLE SRR B I
MRS R BB R FIET PR -

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the provision of expected
credit losses for trade receivables, management
assesses individually for each significant trade debtors
or those credit-impaired; and collectively for others
using provision matrix by groupings of various trade
debtors that have similar loss patterns as reflected in
the debtors’ aging profiles. The provision rates are
estimated using the historical observed default rates
of the debtors taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonably and supportably
available to the directors of the Company without
undue costs or effort, and are updated if considered
to be required.

MERE B MERMT4FMEE BT822 EKGIBTER
EEEEREN TEESRSERE ZHENRFIESRD
REERENE S BUGRIBETREBI G - WiEBKE
BRA (RENES AR BITNZIEE 5 R
BHAENBREREREME SRR FIAEI TR
Ho BEEREBREBANBIBERERE  £%
B BRAREFEACENENALEEMSIEAFER
FHRTEMERMEESE  BEXREETUER -

Obtaining an understanding of management’'s process
in assessing the estimated provision of expected credit
losses for trade receivables;
TREREMTHE SRR IENBREEBEERE
B EIE

Assessing management’'s basis in determining
allowance for credit losses for the individually
significant trade receivables and those credit-impaired;
identified with reference to the historical default rates
and the reasonableness of the forward-looking
information being considered;

ML EIREAEETEEHAIMEREXRE 5 ERBIE R HIR
FEERENEZRIFENEEEEREROESE T2
ZRTHERERMERNAEEERNEIEMN

Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s
grouping of trade debtors other than those individually
significant or credit-impaired ones identified according
to the similarities of historical loss patterns;

M EREREBABBREANEUZERZEFEHZ
BERERSKEREERESEUINZE S REUFEDENE
B
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Key audit matter
RBENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ESEENTREERREENERNS &

Estimated provision of expected credit losses for trade receivables (Continued)

BB B Ba RS BEG IR A58 0F (&)

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of trade receivables
as at 31 December 2020 is RMB70,519,000 and
management concluded that allowance for credit
losses of trade receivables for the year ended 31
December 2020 is insignificant.

AR A BTSRRI R 17 PTHRER - PA20206F12 318 -
B SR FIANRmEASARY70,519,0007T © ME
BERAEZE2020F12 A3 BIEFEMNE Z B UK
HEEBERERTENX -

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s basis
in determining allowance for credit losses for trade
debtors other than those individually significant or
credit-impaired ones identified by examining the
historical default rates applied in each category of the
provision matrix of the trade debtors, on a sample
basis; and the reasonableness of the forward-looking
information being considered; and
FRMEESEANSE SR IEREEREERN B
HRE UM EEEHEBRNERNENKEREER
BEEIIMNIE G REFIEEL N E B EREMAELEN
S . REHEMERMOAIEEEROEENE &

Checking the mathematical accuracy of management’s
estimated allowance for expected credit losses of trade
receivables for the individually significant or credit-
impaired trade receivables and those under the
provision matrix.
HERERERNERNHREERENE S EBHRIEUR
ZERBRBEENE HRWFTIAMGFOE FEWGRIATE
HEEEERE BB ERIEEITRE -
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Key audit matter
FREBENFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ESEEMNTERERREENERNSE

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

EfFIRREE (E8R T3X) 690 EFE

We identified the impairment assessment of the long-
lived assets relating to the leases of certain
warehouses of the Group, comprising certain plant
and machinery and leasehold improvement (the
“Identified Long-lived Assets”), as a key audit matter
due to significant judgement by the management is
required to assess the amount of impairment of these
assets.

TEBEH EXEEETAEHENREE(BRIEEET
iR RS AREEMERE(EBRNRBEED) R
BERHARB AERESFE  REAREEERAELEEXR
FIETLAGT M Z S EERRESE -

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, during the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Identified Long-lived Assets are subject to the land
resumption plans of a local government in the
People’s Republic of China and the relevant
warehouses’ lease terms are expected to be
shortened. This is considered to be an indicator that
the carrying amounts of the Identified Long-lived
Assets are impaired. As at 31 December 2020, the
carrying amount of the Identified Long-lived Assets
was RMB17,632,000.

MINAR S TSR AT EE - IABIE 20205 12 A 31
HIEFE  BRIRAEEREFHEARLNE T
BT E TG B - MR A ER TR EATE B S 2 AT -
IR RE BRI RAEENREABRENTR - 52020
F12A3NE EHMNRPEENEREERARKE
17,632,000 7T °

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets included:
EEABCHRBEENRENMENIET B -

o Obtaining an understanding of management’'s process
in assessing impairment of the Identified Long-lived
Assets;

o TREEESRT A ENRIAEERERNBRE

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer and
legal expert;

o MEEUAEREEGEMREEERNER BEHEE
B

o Assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions and
calculation made by the management for the
compensation estimated to be realised from the local
government by comparing to similar market
transactions from publicly available information; and

o BREBRARITSERPHELUTERS  HEEEER
et B 7 BN MM EMERR LT EN SR
K

o Assessing the reasonableness of the appraised value of
the Identified Long-lived Assets of the management
with reference to the opinion from the legal expert.

o 2EFFERNER AHEREECHNRBEENFTGE
BENEEN -
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RBENER ESEENTREERREENERNS &

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Continued)
EMFIREE (BHR TX)BREFE (E)

As further set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, for the purpose of impairment
assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets, the
Group takes into consideration of the estimated
compensation based on the fair value of Identified
Long-lived Assets. The amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the Identified
Long-lived Assets’ carrying amount and fair value less
costs of disposal. The management exercises
significant judgement in respect of the key
assumptions applied in the amount of compensation
estimated to be realised.

BN E MG ImRMT4E —FME - BRE#NREE
ERRENETS - EREZRENRERANRHEER
FEMGHE - REBEEEREHNRAEENK
HEHEATEREDEXNAN 2 ANEZEGTE - EEEMM
SR NEESEMEANEERRITEE AL -

Based on the management’s assessment, no
impairment loss of the Identified Long-lived Assets has
been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2020.

RIEEEEOTE  BE2020F12A31AILFE - #
EREETRRADBIRAEENRBEESE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Htt&E#
BEARESHAMAKEE - AN OEFE
Fra AR - TR RRA BB RR R
B -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBmlEMEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

2020 2019
20205 2019 F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hitat AR®TRT AREFT
Revenue &= 5 185,198 209,750
Other income, gains and losses HaUg A - Yz R EE 1,411 1,825
Employee benefits expenses EERFIFY 10 (72,854) (75,456)
Sub-contracting expenses DEFHX (46,483) (61,955)
Depreciation of property, M - BB NEETE
plant and equipment (3,143) (2,076)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEEITE (17,325) (17,166)
Finance costs [ELEC VDN 7 (3,438) (2,914)
Professional fee relating to transfer =ik FHEEREE R
of listing - (8,867)
Other expenses HEMAx 9 (36,352) (27,185)
Profit before taxation BB AT E 7,014 15,956
Income tax expenses FRE®if > 8 (4,551) (6,635)
Profit and total comprehensive income & RE R & 2 Uk a8 42 58
for the year 10 2,463 9,321
Earnings per share FREAF 13
— Basic, RMB cents —EE - ARED 0.31 1.17
— Diluted, RMB cents — g ARED 0.31 1.17

@R (hE) BRERAT 81
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ARE BRI R

At 31 December 2020 #2020 12H31H

2020 2019
2020 2019 F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
BaE AR®TT AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBHEFE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 14 20,431 19,803
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 49,495 72,031
Rental deposits HEZS 16 3,192 3,097
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 26 = 385
73,118 95,316
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Trade and other receivables and B 5 K H A FEY IR A &
prepayments AR RUR 17 79,943 68,867
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 18 74,965 71,419
154,908 140,286
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEER
Trade and other payables and B 5 R H A FIE &
accrued expenses FEEHFI 19 26,716 30,540
Lease liabilities HEBE 20 15,070 15,318
Bank borrowing SRITE 21 10,000 -
Tax payable FEATREIE 4,975 5,894
56,761 51,752
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEESRE 98,147 88,534
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 171,265 183,850

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continued
FA MR R @

At 31 December 2020 R2020412431H

2020 2019
2020 20194
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Kt et AR®TT ARBFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAR
Lease liabilities HEEE 20 36,571 57,687
Deferred tax liabilities REFEE & 26 456 -
37,027 57,687
NET ASSETS HERE 134,238 126,163
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BER A
Share capital [N 22 6,761 6,761
Reserves = 127,477 119,402
TOTAL EQUITY gasn 134,238 126,163

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 174 were £ 81E 174 MG MEHRERE N 2021F3 A
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 23 HEZE & & RIEETIZ - WH T ES

March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: REREE
Li Jianxin Li Jianming
REH £ L
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF

AR (hE) BRERAT 83
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

H= N\ /7 4=y
/j_\ 4“:“3 L\ mam %}J ig
M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

Attributable to the owners of the Company

kNS T PN
Share-
based
Share Share Statutory Other payment Retained
capital premium  reserve reserves  reserve profits Total
BB
BF KBER ZERE HENRE 2 GREE REEH ey
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARSTT ARETR ARETET
(note 22) (Note ) (Note i)
(Hiz#22) (Hizti)  (Batii)
At 1 January 2019 K209 1818 6,761 37,763 6,932 27,094 - 38,292 116,842
Profit and total comprehensive £ /3 il |2 2 H s
income for the year k] - - - - - 9,321 9,321
Transfers B - - 2,091 - - (2,091) -
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31A 6,761 37,763 9,023 27,094 - 4552 126,163
Profit and total comprehensive 4 i & 2 &z
income for the year ek - - - - - 2,463 2,463
Transfers B - - 1,583 - - (1,583) -
Recognition of equity-settled  FERLARRIELE
share-based payments R BRI
(note 23) (Hii£23) - - - - 5,612 - 5,612
At 31 December 2020 2020412 A31H 6,761 37,763 10,606 27,094 5612 46,402 134,238
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o

dE N/
T / ~ IZI}EIH @J i% /f”j’t’

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

Notes:

It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of the Company established in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, the subsidiary in the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit
after taxation, as determined under the relevant accounting principles and
financial regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC, to a non-
distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a
dividend to owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years'
losses, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

Amount comprises of:

o RMB3,550,000 arising from the effect of the conversion of Guangzhou
World-Link (China) Co. Ltd. ("Guangzhou World-Link") into a joint stock
company with limited liability in 2016 whereas the excess of the net
assets over the designated conversion amount attributable to the owners
of the Company is recognised in a non-distributable reserve;

o RMB3,449,000 arising from a group reorganisation in 2016 pursuant to
which the entire registered capital of Guangzhou World-Link was acquired
by a group entity from its then shareholders. Upon completion of the
above transactions, the balance of the retained profits and non-
distributable reserve of Guangzhou World-Link attributable to owners of
the Company is recognised in a non-distributable reserve; and

. RMB20,095,000 due to capital contributions from certain shareholders of
the Company in 2017.

ez -

HIEADRIRPEARKME ([HE )KLz HTERR
EEEM o RETPEAMEE  PENEBARNAKBRR
BAFNZED10% (REBEANFEKRINECENTHRE
ARAURMBROIEE) BASADRFEES  EEM
BHEEDEEMEAMNS0% AL © LREERARR
BAEAD IR EREL - BRFES AR EHBESF
ERER(E)  BRIEER - BRI DIK

SREHE:

. R2016FHEMNPERFRAMBBRAF (&
MPBRT ) BRRENERIARTNTEEL
AR 3,550,0007T - & EFEBHADAGR
BEARGEETBHREBNBOR A DIREET

£
o

. 20165 1T R B B A E A AR H3,449,0007T -
Bt EMPBIRFOHEHIMERAEEER
FEERREWE - B B S TRE AR
A ARIGEMNPERFORE RN R 5K
FEBESRNR TR D IKREEPER &

o AR #20,0950007T T AR AL R A FIRER
2017 XA -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ Iﬁi //Zﬁ%%%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

2020 2019
20205 2019 &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEED
Profit before taxation B E AT 7,014 15,956
Adjustments for: BT SIBEL A
Depreciation of property, W - BE MEFEITE
plant and equipment 3,143 2,076
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESERE 17,325 17,166
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEMEZEEE
equipment 17 6
Unrealised exchange losses REIRE H E1E 1,255 39
Bank interest income RITHBULA (1,114) (641)
Interest income on rental deposits AEZRESF EWA (138) (127)
Finance costs BhE AR 3,438 2,914
Gain on lease modification HEEmks (157) -
Share-based payment expense A% 1 B R XX 5,612 -
Operating cash flows before movements BECEIIIKCERSRE
in working capital 36,395 37,389
Increase in rental deposits paid EfNHEEREEM (6,534) (353)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B2 2 % H fth FEU R IE DA R FE - 3808
receivables and prepayments (300 8k > (4,702) 12,625
Decrease in trade and other payables and 2 5 K& H b e ZXIB LA R FEEH B SR 2
accrued expenses (3,824) (1,578)
Cash generated from operations KEMEERS 21,335 48,083
Income tax paid B FTER (4,630) (7,370)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BRETEBRELN&PH 16,705 40,713
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEE %% - BE NEE (3,788) (15,785)
Interest income received BEHFEHA 1,114 641
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME  BENBEMESHRIE
plant and equipment - 2
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES B ZE AR &FHE (2,674) (15,142)

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows continued

/\\/T\ Iﬁi/ﬂbiﬁ &

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020%12A31H 1FF/Z

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEER
Repayments of lease liabilities BEMAEESE (15,994) (15,483)
Interest payments of lease liabilities XNHERERE (3,307) (2,914)
Interest payments of bank borrowing S AHERITIE T E (131) -
Proceeds from bank borrowing raised L ERITE RMFTISRIE 10,000 -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES R B BAR&BHE (9.432) (18,397)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRE&FEMBMBEHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,599 7,174
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE EFgmpE
CHANGES (1,053) (39)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNEERASEED
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 71,419 64,284
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FXRAERBESEEYD
AT END OF THE YEAR, represented BIRTER LIRS
by bank balances and cash 74,965 71,419
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GENERAL

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its
ultimate parent is Goal Rise Profits Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands). The address of the Company's registered
office and the principal place of business is disclosed in the
section “Corporate Information” in the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
32.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is same as the functional currency of
the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material

and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AT E BT ISERR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
SO PBREN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that
states “information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify
that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination with
other information, in the context of the financial
statements taken as a whole.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A BRI s

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)!

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSS
2018-20202

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020%12A31H 1FF/Z

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but
not yet effective (continuead)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities
as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

(i)  the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;
and

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these
terms do not affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2020, the application of the amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group'’s liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined

54 B S SRR BT S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of the
reporting period as explained in the accounting policies
set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
services rendered.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technigue. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements are determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases ("HKFRS 16"),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

REMBRREREERER

REVBRRREELE

RAMBRRIDBEEEGTMNAE
BHNEEMERELNRE - R
HGAMBEHRRMNE - WEBERE
BEMEFETIBZEREFLAR
iE - RIBREREERER © tHh
RAMBRRINBEBRMES LT
ARAN(T ETRR D REBRBEGIR
EHREREER -

T XM ST BER AR - 456
BT HRER T S R IR IR R S P AR
ERREL o B PAR —RIZIB I FTER
TR TRENAFHEHNE -

RHERTHLEEZRNGAERS
EITARFR Z0HEEEM AT AR
HEEABBEMANER - MTH
ZERELERUESRNAERAEM
BETEMG c REHEERRER
FEF  AEEGF ATIS2EER
FERHHEEREEEEREE
WEERBERH - REEPERER
iRt E R HRER SO R TFET
RIWREETE BBV BREE
RS2SR [ AR 1D BERE A S50 &
AN RERONRRS - R
BEAEWBREERNE 165 [HE
(IEEMERELERE 1658 ) AR
WHERZURERFHEEBETH
MUz BIELFERFENE(NER
S ERE2N [FE A ERF
EREEGTERFI65E EE R 1E
BV FAEE) BRob -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

AR

AU THREM T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee,

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

AR

L e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service (or a
bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
services that are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
AT IRAM e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBERFEREERTE
SEBKR #)

32 FESITBER#®)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group
has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9"). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM s

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBKERFEREERTE
eHEBE®)

32 FEEFTBER#®)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group's performance in transferring
control of services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R A S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020%12A31H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEMBBRGEREERTE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BETEBR @)
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FEFFHEBKR @)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Income from transportation service, warehousing
service, in-plant logistics service and customisation
service

For revenue from (i) transportation service; (ii)
warehousing service; and (jii) in-plant logistics service, for
which the control of service is transferred when the
Group had provided the related services over the service
period, revenue is recognised when the customers
simultaneously received and consumed respective
services.

For revenue from customisation service which control of
labelling and bundling services are transferred at a point
in time, revenue is recognised when the customers
accept the services and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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B M BHRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of staff quarters and a warehouse
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
AT IRAM e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBERFEREERTE
SEBKR #)

32 FESITBER#®)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

2 & B IS R 2 B S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

J fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

5 A R BE N

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

J the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review,
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBERFEREERTE
SEBKR #)

32 FESITBER#®)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the subsidies
will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair
value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payments reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues

NN bl D

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020%12A31H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will
continue to be held in share-based payments reserve.

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where
the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case
they are measured at fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the
goods or the counterparty renders the services. The fair
values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expense (unless the goods or services qualify for a
recognition as assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBERFEREERTE
SEBKR #)

32 FESITBER#®)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a
net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

b2 & B TS R B e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

b2 & B TS R B e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment l0ss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash- generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or l0ss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
contracts with customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

J the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBERFEREERTE
SEBKR #)
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, rental deposits
and bank balances and cash) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM s

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBKERFEREERTE
eHEBE®)

32 FEEFTBER#®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit 10ss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the l0ss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBERFEREERTE
SEBKR #)

32 FESITBER#®)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMTIAE)

Financial assets (Continued) BHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SRIEEREE)

Significant increase in credit risk 1:., L g 78 2 1 1

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased R BV RREEERRESHE

significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continea
e SRR EE®

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBKERFEREERTE
DEBR &)

32 FEEFTBER#®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

5 A R BE N

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower,

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

J the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider,

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceeding or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables which are not individually significant
using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit l0oss experience, adjusted for forward
looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. HMEVBBKERFEREERTE
DEBR &)

32 FEEFTBER#®)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBERFEREERTE
SEBKR #)

32 FESITBER#®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continea
e SRR EE®

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3. HMEVBBKERFEREERTE
DEBR &)

32 FEEFTBER#®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities of the Group, representing trade
and other payables and bank borrowing, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

AR

A BB N

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables
which are not assessed individually using a provision matrix.
The provision rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings
of various debtors taking into consideration the Group's
historical default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. Details on how ECL were
measured is consistent with the internal credit risk
management of the Group as set out in note 29.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived
Assets (as defined below)

The Group has received the notice of the land resumption plan
from the government during the year. Certain long-lived assets
relating to the leases of certain warehouses of the Group,
comprising certain plant and machinery and leasehold
improvement (the “Identified Long-lived Assets”), are subject to
the land resumption plans of a local government in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and the relevant
warehouses’ lease terms are expected to be shortened,
despite that the Group has not been formally notified of the
termination of any of such leases. In determining whether an
asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value,
(ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, in this case relating to the fair value
less costs of disposal; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts. Changing
the assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate carrying amount of the
Identified Long-lived Assets was RMB17,632,000, including
certain plant and machinery and leasehold improvement.

The recoverable amounts of the Identified Long-lived Assets
have been determined by the management of the Group based
on fair value less costs of disposal calculation. The amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
Identified Long-lived Assets’ carrying amounts and fair value
less costs of disposal. The management exercises significant
judgement in respect of the key assumptions applied in the
amount of compensation estimated to be realised from the
local government.

ASs at 31 December 2020, no impairment 1oss (2019: nil) of the
Identified Long-lived Assets has been recognised.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A WIS RR N

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

5. REVENUE 5. W&
(a) Disaggregation of the Group's revenue @ AEBEXRBEF&HWE
from contracts with customers B AT
2020 2019
20205 2019 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Types of services AR
Transportation service Ew RS 66,018 96,607
Warehousing service B RS 48,504 40,334
In-plant logistics service R A7 AR 7S 69,739 72,013
Customisation service E RARTE 937 796
Total st 185,198 209,750
Timing of revenue recognition ISR i2ER
Over time R—ERERER 184,261 208,954
At a point in time RE 937 796
185,198 209,750

All services are provided within a period of less than one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinves
A TSR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

5. REVENUE (continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The performance obligations for contracts with
customers of the Group’s major sources of revenue are
as follow:

Transportation service: delivery of the customers’
inventory to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations.
The transportation services cover across the PRC
and Egypt.

Warehousing service: provision of inventory storage
and management services in the Group's
warehouses located in the PRC with specified
physical conditions.

In-plant logistics service: provision of wide-range of
in-house services at customers’ manufacturing
plants to integrate the production processes, which
cover the management of the movements of (a)
production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the
manufacturing plants of the customers of the
Group; and (b) delivery of finished goods to the
factory gates of the relevant customers deployed
by staff of the Group at its customers’
manufacturing plants.

Customisation service: provision of labelling
services (i.e. sticking labels onto the surface of the
inventory according to customers' instructions) and
the bundling services (i.e. bundling the inventory to
facilitate handling and transportation) generally
provided inside the Group’s warehouses.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W&

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

The Group recognises its revenue from the provision of
the transportation service, warehousing service and in-
plant logistics service over time as the customers receive
and consume the benefits of the Group's performance as
it occurs. The Group recognises its revenue from
customisation service at a point in time when the
customers accept the services and the Group has
present right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable. The payment terms and credit
terms (if any) are set out in note 17.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments, which also represent the
Group’s reportable segments, are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
"CODM") of the Group, being the executive directors of the
Company, who are also the directors of the operating
subsidiaries, for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The CODM regularly reviews revenue and results analysis by (i)
transportation service, (i) warehousing service, (iii) in-plant
logistics service; and (iv) customisation service.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating and reportable segments.

by EEFELHMBENEIELE)

REP YR RN EBEL 2 M
M—BREREA - AEEERAREH
RHCERRY - BFEHREEAYR
Mg s - REPEZRE - BXR
SR BRI A R R S AR AT BEUCR AR (B
MR B ARESRIBEKAE
BRF 0 Wram o SR R EE A (10
B)HRHE7 -

2 ERE
REBMZE D # (AR EER AT 2D
BB HIRERERD B KRR F A AEE
TBLERKE (FARARWTESEREIZE
MEARMNES) [TELEREE DER
HBERHERE

TBEERRERNEBRYE : ()2 RR
B o (i) AR ARFS ¢ R (v) & RARTS E A
ERE M EENT o

7 abU e N 2 AE
W AR EEREE R 2R HEH 0
e ES PR

IR (FE) ZRERDE

R TEER

125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

2 & B TSR 2R M S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (&)
Segment revenue and results (continued) 7 EB U ER I AR ()
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE2020512A318LFE
In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Total
EnkE BRRE RAWRERS ERRE EH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT AR®TT
Revenue Wi

External sales HIMEE 66,018 48,504 69,739 937 185,198
Results #

Segment results PEEE 10,707 1,577 16,861 368 29,513
Unallocated corporate income kA EMERA 2,389
Unallocated corporate expenses K DB £H % (24,888)
Profit before taxation BRALATE R e
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER )
Segment revenue and results (continued) 7 BB ER N SR AR ()
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F12A318LEE
Transportation Warehousing  In-plant logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
ERRY ERR% B RS TREH @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ANRETTT ARETTT ARETT ARETT ANRETT

Revenue Wig

External sales HIMEE 96,607 40,334 72013 79 209,750
Results i

Segment results DEEE 21,752 3910 14,247 309 40,218
Unallocated corporate income  AAERAZUHA 1,698
Unallocated corporate expenses kA B %5 (25,960)
Profit before taxation BE AR 15,956
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the EEDE R R BUR BN 3 AT A R
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. VEETRAR - D EBEIES IR
Segment results represent profit earned from each segment BEesER - B RSB LML - K
without allocation of listing expenses, corporate income and ARBETHIZ - WhRAAEEEZEZER
certain expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM of REZWMUNDEERLRTEREBNAES
the Group for the purpose of resource allocation and VE o

performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities DEPEENEE

No analysis of segment assets or liabilities is presented as they HREELBEBRRERETHRESHE

are not regularly provided to the CODM. EXDHBEENER  RILEZ23E@ES
e
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2020

DEER #)
Hith D #PE
HZEZ2020F12A31BILLEE

In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics Customisation Segment
service service service service Total Corporate  Consolidated
Ewlk% EEBE  BANREE i T bt it L
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR IN:3 2 IN:3 s ARRTR ARRTR
Amounts included inthe meastre A BEEHEFANSE:
0f segment results:
Depreciation of property, V% BEREENE
plant and equipment 523 2,425 19 - 2961 176 3143
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEENE 446 16,246 - - 16,692 633 17,325
Loss on disposal of property, LENE  BRRRESE
plant and equipment - - - - - 17 17

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BZE2019F12A831BLFE

In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics Customisation Segment
service service service service Total Corporate Consolidated
EEe 2ERE  BAMRES et P % aff
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETT  ARETR ARETn  ARETR  ARETT ARBTR
Amounts included inthe measre.— HBEBH ST ANAE -
of segment resufts:
Depreciation of property, g BEREENE
plantand equipment 702 1223 3 - 1948 18 2076
Depreciation of rigntof-use assets  FRIEAENE 556 15949 - - 16505 861 1716
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BRLZEER
plantand equipment - - - - - 6 6
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information

The Group's revenue is mainly derived from operations in the
PRC and the Group’s non-current assets are mainly located in
the PRC by location of assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the reporting period contributing

DEBE R (@)
Hb [ &R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

AEEZzWam T BRETEER  A&H
ZIRBDEEREEME T EMNTE -

EHEXEEFPHNEFR

RIRE A AR B Y EE BUEE 10% 5

over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows: ERPREWOT
2020 2019
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBETT
Customer A ZEEA 57,129 65,023
Customer B ZFEB 55,272 58,355
Customer C BEC 38,623 55,714
151,024 179,092

Revenue from Customer A is solely generated from the
transportation service segment. Revenue from Customers B
and C is generated from all of transportation service,

KEEFANBREELEBERRB DA -
KEEPBREPCHNRELBMAER
R - BRERSG - BRAYIR IR & E SR

warehousing service, in-plant logistics service and o ER o
customisation service segments.
FINANCE COSTS il & A
2020 2019
20205 2019 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Interest on bank borrowing RITE AL 131 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 3,307 2,914
Total borrowing costs &R AN 4B EE 3,438 2,914

IR (FE) ZRERDE

TECTEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 8. FEHiRExX
2020 2019
20205 2019
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFT
Current tax charges: EHBIERY
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") B EEH ([REMERD)
— current year — KEE 3,711 7,020
Deferred tax charge (credits) (note 26);  EETHIERI S (%) (K171 26)
Current year REE 840 (385)
4,551 6,635

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong
Kong. PRC EIT is calculated at 25% (2019: 25%)of the estimated
assessable profits for the current year. Taxation arising in other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant
jurisdictions.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

MR AREBWANFEES BEBIRNE
S MAEBE W E B TIEERE o
Bl 2 FTISBIR AN FE A ERBE T
25% (20194F : 25%) 5t & - Hfh el )& # &
EENRIBLRAE A ER S MR

= o
Eal

ERFREHMETREABSREMRE
5K PO OR BLAT M FIH BRI T

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Profit before taxation B AT Vs ) 7,014 15,956
Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 1= Bl FEFT1S T 25% B0 &
FFrE R 1,754 3,989

Tax effect of expenses not deductible B A

for tax purposes 2,810 2,653
Effect of different tax rates of a subsidiary R HE b AR = L E )

operating in another jurisdiction B BB R B AN R o Y g 28 (13) @)
Income tax expenses for the year FRATSHAS 4,551 6,635
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

9. OTHER EXPENSES Hbhpz

2020 2019
20205 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Auditor's remuneration A AGTIE AT 1,124 1,151
Entertainment expenses BERX 776 1,097

Equity-settled share-based expense EEE AP EE
for non-employees R Emsp & 335 -
Expenses in respect of short-term leases ARG EHEERS 9,134 1,311
Fleet operating expenses HERLERX 3,902 5,128
Insurance expenses RBFEX 837 1,138
Legal and professional fees FEMNEEEBR 3,283 1,277
Other operating expenses (Note) Hih@is (i) 5,458 4,663
Other taxes and surcharges H b F 8 LK g 521 391
Outsourced labour costs HMEL S TRKAR 5,971 4,860
Repair and maintenance expenses HIERRBRX 523 1,180
Telephone and communication fees BENEAE 458 438
Travelling expenses ERAX 355 874
Utilities expenses NRABMERE 3,675 3,677
36,352 27,185

Note: Other operating expenses included individual items less than
RMB1,000,000, such as bank charges, general office expenses, annual
dinner expenses, annual general meeting costs etc.

Hret - HM2ER X B EN AR 1,000,000 7T #9 {E
RIEE - PIMIRTTRE - —RIFAERX - BF
BEMY - BRRBEFAGUASE -

IR (FE) ZRERDE

TECTEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. FRER
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR¥TT

Profit for the year has been arrived FRE MR (GTA)
at after charging (crediting): T &ERE
Directors’ remuneration: BEEEHMH -
— Fees — e 354 272
— Salaries and other allowances — e M HEAERL 2,331 1,227
— Discretionary bonus — MIBEAL 399 1,496
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIKERIET ISR (A 7E 25)
contributions (note 25) 44 90
— Equity-settled share-based expense  — LARR 4 E > PR fn E R 2 936 -
4,064 3,085
Other staff salaries and other allowances H (g E ¥4 & H =288 59,286 58,362
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, RAREFIFTEIHR
excluding those of directors (note 25) TREEEZHE (Wit 25) 5,163 14,009
Equity-settled share-based expense VARR #4555 2 It BT A =2 4,341 -
Total employee benefits expenses EEBRAFAZ 2% 72,854 75,456
Auditor's remuneration 1% SR 5 A
— Audit services — BIRS 1,124 1,151
— Non-audit services (included in — EEZRE
professional fee relating to (G AER ETAEE
transfer of listing) HEEH) = 1,297
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE R
plant and equipment REBEA 17 6
Other income, gains and losses mainly — E g A - Uz & B8
included: FTEBE:
Bank interest income RATFI YA (1,114) (647)
Interest income from rental deposits — FA &% e F 28U A (138) (127)
Government grants (Note) B REER (B aE) (1,190) (589)
Gain on lease modification (note 15) HE Bk (HaE 15) (157) -
Net foreign exchange losses (gains) P& B 1E (as) 558 1,255 (414)
Note: For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, the amount mainly HtaF : BZE2019F %2020 12 A3 HILFE - BES
included government grants to the Group for maintaining lower BEXERERAERHELERMG TASENBEN
unemployment rate and value-added tax (“VAT") credit granted under the B URARES R ER ((EES D BE TN
new VAT policy with no unfulfilled conditions attached before recognition. SRAE RN - A HESR A b 5 B A5 A 2 B IR AF o

132  Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and the chief executive’s

(@)

remuneration

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company by the
group entities during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

M Es.

EETHRAEREER
B &
(@) EEFENMEZETTHA B E

FAKEERCNHEBNARAES
RESITHRABHNMEFHENT

BZE2020512B31BLFE

Retirement Equity-
Salaries benefit settled
and other Discretionary scheme  share-hased
Fees  allowances bonus contributions expense Total
Fak EBHEH LRERRC
g Rt BT HEBR RDERAX &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Name of director EFta AR®FT ARBTR AR®TT  ARRTR  ARRTT  ARWTR
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Li Jianxin (‘Mr. Li )X') R TE
(TReHER]) - 1,212 203 26 65 1,566
M. Li Sianming (Note ) PRBEE (W) - 701 196 - 65 962
Ms. Lin Jianfang (Note i) RIS () - 358 - 18 611 987
Independentnon-executive  BUFEH{TEE :
directors:
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence BERET 118 - - - 65 183
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy MREET 18 - - - 65 183
Mr. Shao Wi A 118 - - - 65 183
354 2,331 399 44 936 4,064

During the year, certain directors were granted with
share options, in respect of their services to the Group
under the share option scheme of the Company. Details
of the share option scheme are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements. The amount of the
benefits in relation to share options has been determined

having regard to the performance of the individuals.

TR REAQFBERENE FTES
BN R AR SR B R 0 AR A FE AR P A A
BRI BNFBHERNF A BRERM T
23 BB ENEN SR NREEAR
BREE -

RAYR (FE) ZERERAT
TECTEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

MM EE BEETHRAEREER

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) M€ 2
(@) Directors’ and the chief executive's @ EZFK&EETTHAEH B
remuneration (continued) (%)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZ2019F 128318 LLFE
Salaries Retirement
andother  Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus  contributions Total
ek RINER
we Hi 28k et HE5 et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of director EES e ARETT ARETT ARETR AEETT AEETT
Executive directors: WTES:
Mr. Li X Rigsrs - 741 1,047 57 1,845
M. Li lianming (Note ) PEREE (Ha) - 486 449 3 968
Independent non-execuive BUERTES
directors:
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence BEREL 106 - - - 106
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy PREET 106 - - - 106
Mr. Shao Wei BELE 60 - - - 60
272 1,227 1,496 90 3,085
Notes: et -

(i)

(iii)

Mr. Li Jianming is the chief executive of the Group and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by him as the chief executive.

Ms. Lin Jianfang is existing employee of the Group and has been
appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect
from 1 September 2020. The emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by her as an employee. The
emolument of Ms. Lin Jianfang for the year ended 31 December
2020 has not been included in note 11(b) below.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

134  Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020

(i)

(iii)

FAEBSSITHRABRREALE - I
XEEENE REEERRRITHRA
BRHUREOME -

HRUFZLAXEERTREE - WES
ERFRRAITES - B2020F9 71
BEER - EXHBOEELER
BEREBRBEOME - MAIFLTHE
2020F 12 A31 B IEFE MO € 30 K&
AN TFXHEE11 (D)

EXATRRTESFOME RS EER
ARBRAEEEBEBRBOME -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
A SRR e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 11.
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) Directors’ and the chief executive’s
remuneration (continuea)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

The executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
payments which are determined based on the performance of the

individual director.

The emoluments of the directors fell within the following bands:

EE BETHAERESE
M€ 2

@ ZEFENZSITHAE M
(#)
)

(v EXFREMGERTEFNME RS
BEEARAESHHE -

W) ARFRITEFHRUIRIEENES
RBREFRIEAR

(vi) ERNMENFATHE

Number of directors
EEREA

2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T & 1,500,000 7 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7T Z 2,500,000 7 7T = 1
6 5

AR (FHE) ?;Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ
TECTEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

MM EE BEETHRAEREER
@H%(ﬁ)

(b) Emoluments of senior management

Of the eleven (2019: nine) senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020, six
(2019: five) of them are directors of the Company and
their remuneration has been disclosed in note 11(a). The
total emoluments of the remaining five (2019: four) senior
management are as follows:

(0)

l__]/\

RAREE2020F12A3MBLEFE
B+ —&(2019F : W& aRER
ABF - HRAFQ019F : £4)
BAER 7§$ i 15 % B 5 Bl 2 #5258
REFE11@) 82 N A4 (20194 : T
%)%éﬁa}i/\aa@@}ﬂﬁmﬁﬁﬂ :

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AREFIT

Salaries and other allowances e REMERL 1,267 813
Retirement benefit scheme RAREFFT B

contributions 46 113

Equity-settled share-based expense  MARRHEASE 2 B (D EREFT 2 685 -

1,998 926

The emoluments of each of the senior management
excluding the directors were less than HK$1,000,000 for
both years.

During the year, certain senior management were
granted with share options, in respect of their services to
the Group under the share option scheme of the
Company. Details of the share option scheme are set out
in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. The
amount of the benefits in relation to share options has
been determined having regard to the performance of
the individuals.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(©

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group, which are
also senior management of the Company, include three
(2019: two) directors of the Company and two (2019:
three) senior management of the Group for the year

MM EE BEETHRAEREER
M€ 2

(©

hasaFMAL

HZE2020F12A3MBIEFE - A%
EREmeFTMAT(BRERAEEAR
AEREREAB)BEARRI =S
(2019F : MB)EEFRAEEMRE

ended 31 December 2020. The emoluments of these two (2019F : =R )EREBAE - %
(2019: three) employees are as follows: MG (2019%F : —ZR)EERMEE W
T
2020 2019
20204 2019 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREET T
Salaries and other allowances e N H fh2ah 556 685
Retirement benefit scheme RIRIBFIET B LR
contributions 17 113
Equity-settled share-based expense  LARR#EAEE 7 R () TR 2 594 -
1,167 798
The emoluments of each of the two (2019: three) LA EMZ(2019F : ZH)REF A
employees above were in the band of nil to HK$1,000,000 A EFEE 8 3 % HANTFEZE

for both years.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company or the chief executive of the
Group or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of
the Company or the chief executive of the Group waived
or agree to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

12. DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
both years, nor has any dividend been proposed since 31
December 2020 up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

1,000,000 7T ©

HE2020F M 2019F 12 A31 HIEE
B AEBBERARNARERESEK
REEZRITHRABR RS &= 5
ALTZHERBE - ARSI A
EESEBIMARNE R EEE
ABEBLEE - # 2 20209F 20196
mﬂmamﬁﬁ'$“ﬂ§$&$

BITBABBEREXRER
%EHM$

1 2 HQIL,\

NN

ARMEFEMERNHE

IR AEAATAY

B 8202012 A31H #£ & & & = 2020
FNRANBULFESAVBHRREMEE

H IR R

ZR RS

RAYR (FE) ZERERAT
TECTEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share AAEEBEARGFASRERAREER
attributable to owners of the Company for the year is based on MEETEF AT ER A TEIE ¢

the following data:

2020 2019
20205 2019
Earnings 27
Profit for the year attributable to owners st &G IRE A & 58 2 K| A7

of the Company for the purpose RABIER ANEIEFE R T

of basic and diluted earnings per share (AR Ft)

(in RMB'000) 2,463 9,321
Number of shares B8 E
Number of shares for the purpose HESRERRESRTTE

of basic and diluted earnings per share  B&HmEE (TA%)

(in thousands) 800,000 800,000
The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year FTEHE2020F12ANBIEFENER
ended 31 December 2020 does not assume the exercise of the BSE RPN |BRBRATEADRAERE -
Company’s share options because the exercise price of those FREARZEERENTTEESNARRR
options was higher than the average market price of the shares DREARAETFHTE -
of the Company during the year.

There was no potential ordinary shares in issue for the year HE209F12ANALFEREBLER

ended 31 December 2019. BITEBR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERRE

Furniture
Plant and and oOffice  Leasehold Motor
machinery  equipment  equipment improvement vehicles Total
BERER FRRRR BORE BENERE RE #t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARRTT AR%RTR AE®TT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
COST 5% 3
At 1 January 2019 R2019F 1818 14,758 157 1,100 6,134 4,448 26,597
Additions RE 26 3 76 13,943 1,737 15,785
Disposals HE - 6) (21) - (101) (127)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12 A31H 14,784 155 1,155 20,077 6,084 42,255
Additions NG 154 - 49 3,585 - 3,788
Disposals HE @ 21) (111) - (203) (342)
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12 4318 14,931 134 1,093 23,662 5,881 45,701
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2019 R2019F 1718 12,401 134 688 4,125 3,147 20,495
Provided for the year FREE 880 3 106 318 769 2,076
Disposals HE - 6) (19) - (95) (119
At 31 December 2019 R2019%F12A318 13,281 132 775 4,443 3,821 22,452
Provided for the year FNEHE 623 4 83 1,809 624 343
Disposals HeE (6) (20) (106) - (193) (329)
At 31 December 2020 MW2020%612 7318 13,898 116 752 6,252 4,252 25,270
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2020 R2020%F12 4318 1,033 18 341 17,410 1,629 20,431
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A318 1,503 23 380 15,634 2,263 19,803

AR (FHE) ?;Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERR®E#)

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking
into account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery
Furniture and equipment
Office equipment
Leasehold improvement

20% per annum

20% per annum

20% per annum

Over the period of the relevant
lease, or over 5 years

Motor vehicles 20% per annum

Impairment assessment

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
during the year ended 31 December 2020, the Identified Long-
lived Assets are subject to the land resumption plans of a local
government in the PRC and the relevant warehouses’ useful
lives are expected to be shortened, the management of the
Group considered there was an indication for impairment and
conducted impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of
the Identified Long-lived Assets with carrying amount of
RMB17,632,000.

The recoverable amounts of the Identified Long-lived Assets
has been determined by the management of the Group based
on fair value less costs of disposal calculation. The amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
Identified Long-lived Assets’ carrying amounts and fair value
less costs of disposal. The management exercises significant
judgement in respect of the key assumptions applied in the
amount of compensation estimated to be realised from the
local government.

The carrying amount of the Identified Long-lived Assets has not
been reduced since the amount of fair value less cost of
disposal of the Identified Long-lived Assets is higher than the
carrying amount. The Identified Long-lived Assets were
measured at fair value based on Level 3 hierarchy using market
approach. The discount rate used in measuring the amount of
fair value is 4.85% as at 31 December 2020. As at 31 December
2020, no impairment loss (2019: nil) of the Identified Long-lived
Assets has been recognised.
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RERFHREER  LAWE  BEER
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B R A, FE20%

R RS T4 20%

N FE20%

HEmERE s@mEss
SR FF

P! TF20%

BB R

WMINERE M B REAMFAFTET B2
2020 12 AN BILFE - EBAIRBEE
5 FP B3t 5 BT ) - s R T B PR AR BR
miARAE ER A A F RS S MaE -
AEBEEEERAGEREDNR  LHE
BB A AR 17,632,000 7T 69 © 3% Bl & 58
B E M AT IR A & R T TR E R o

BRI EHEENTRESED AAEE
ERERBAFERDERAFTEEE
BEBRSBEEINRAEENREE
HEAFEREERAZENZETE - &
BEMRGTEELTBNERNMESE
PRI R E B RBRITEE A -

MR EBFRAEEN D FEBHERAK
SREEE BEERENRBEENERT
BEAERRD - EBRNRBMEERBTIHE
RIBEE =R ERIZ N FEFE - 720205
12318 ARFAEAFESENFEX
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

b2 & B TS R B e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020%12A31H 1FF/Z

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EREEE
Office
premises and
warehouses Forklifts Total
WmamE
REE RE #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT ARBTF T ARBT T
As at 1 January 2020 #2020£1HA1H
Carrying amount BRE{E 68,204 3,827 72,031
As at 31 December 2020 7#2020%12A31H
Carrying amount REE 45,001 4,494 49,495
For the year ended #XE2020%12A31A8
31 December 2020 ILEE
Depreciation charge WEMX 15,001 2,324 17,325
For the year ended BE2019%12A31H
31 December 2019 ILFEE
Depreciation charge WEMX 14,881 2,285 17,166

IR (FE) ZRERDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

AT E

15.

B M BHRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

15. FRAEEE#)

2020 2019

2020 2019

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TFT ANRET T

Expense relating to short-term lease BREEHHEENRY 9,134 1,311
Total cash outflow for leases HEMRS R BEE 28,435 19,708
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFREEE 3,560 35,686

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Office premises and warehouses
Forklifts

12.5%-50% per annum
20%—-50% per annum

For both years, the Group leases various office premises,
warehouses and forklifts for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of one year to nine years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
As at 31 December 2020, none of the Group's leases contain
any extension nor termination option.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made a
lease modification to an existing lease by decreasing the scope
of the lease in area of a warehouse leased by the Group. At the
effective date of the lease modification, the right-of-use asset
and lease liability of the relevant lease have been decreased by
RMBS,771,000 and RMB8,928,000 respectively. The difference
of RMB157,000 has been recognised in profit or loss as gain on
lease modification.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
SO PBREN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

15.

16.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters and a warehouse. As at 31 December 2020, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed
above.

As at 31 December 2020, the lease agreements entered into by
the Group do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
pUrposes.

RENTAL DEPOSITS

The balances represent rental deposits placed by the Group in
connection with its rented premises. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group has the intention to continue
to lease the respective premises upon expiry of the lease
terms. Therefore, the balances are classified as non-current.

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an amount of
RMB143,000 (undiscounted) (2019: RMB143,000 (undiscounted))
as at 31 December 2020 paid to Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming and
their three brothers as the rental deposit for the office premise
owned by them and is leased by the Group.

Details of impairment assessment of rental deposits are set out
in note 29.

15.

16.

EREEE®)
AEETHREIBELRA BT EHMA
B - R2020512 A3 H - BERENHES
B REERAENSNERAEAS
1B -

202012 A31H » REEFVWEE
B N E AR EHBEARAR
HEEENBRMERLIN - HEEETH
FRYERE SR & ROHIR

HERE
EREAREREEENEFRNEER
Z ARREERR AEEREENE
HERRBEERME - Bt RF&EH
BRRAIERY -

M2020 12 B31H  AE@MBEERSF
BE-—ERARBHLEE  REALERE
=R BT S EEA R 143,000 7T (K
IR ) (20194 + A R #143,0007T (K #7
B) EAAEERERSHEENMRA
MENTEELRS

BRARERSMREFEF BRI 29 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

2 & B IS R 2 B S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

17. EE R EMBWRIENAR AN

PREPAYMENTS MIE
2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETT

Trade receivables from contracts KREREFPEHANE S EKFIR

with customers, gross and net 1R8N FRE 70,519 65,018
Prepayments and other receivables TR SRI8 N B FE IR IR 2,847 3,849
Rental deposit (Note) MEZe (M) 6,577 -
79,943 68,867

Note: The balance represents rental deposit placed by the Group in connection
with its rented premise under a short-term lease during the year.

As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB77,796,000.

For long-term customers with good credit quality and payment
history, the Group allows credit period of no longer than 150
(2019: 120) days. For other customers, the Group demands for
full settlement upon issuance of invoice after the provision of

Services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

5 A R BE N

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice dates at the end of the
reporting period.

17.

ESNEMEWRREBEBLURTERN
FRIE (48)

THABSEKRBERRE BRIZHER
HR 251 7 BRES DT o

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBETT

Within 30 days 30HA 28,720 25,697
31 to 60 days 31£260H 14,667 17,351
61 to 90 days 61£290H 14,122 15,420
Over 90 days 90RE 13,010 6,550

70,519 65,018

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB4,946,000 (2019: RMB7,621,000) which are past
due as at the reporting date. No trade receivables balance has
been past due 90 days or more, and no amount is considered
as in default based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience and taking into consideration of forward-looking
information. Accordingly, the management of the Group
considers that allowance for credit losses of trade receivables
is insignificant as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

20205128318 AEEE 5 E WK
BESPRERTDREARARE 4,946,000
TL(20194F + AR¥7,621,00070) 2 FEU AR
T RERZIRBEAHE A HEE
SREBGREZS D B0 A A L JrE
SHEENAEENBIEEBBARRK
ZRAEEERMER /TR - Bt - &K
SEEREERAESERKFENEEER
B RN 20204F 2019412 A31B I~ &
Ko REBTEREZSER/TF TR

s
on °

RAYR (FE) ZERERAT
TECTEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

2 & B TSR 2R M S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables that are denominated in foreign currency,
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities:

17.

ESREMEWRREBEBLULRTER
FIE (#)

BAONEE (AER0SE M B BRI AL S A SN )
HEmE %Ewa

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

United States Dollars (“USD") Ex([%ET])

10,973 17,109

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 29.

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at variable rates which range from
0.3% t0 0.35% per annum as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 0.3%
t0 0.35% per annum).

The amounts of the Group’s bank balances and cash
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

18.

B 5 N H b MR IR R E R R B #R
5129 ¢

RITEBREAS

7202012 A 318 -« RITEHIEN T0.3%
% 0.35% B0 ¥ BV F F K EHE (2019 4F - S 7]
%&0.3% £0.35%) °

AEBARBEEEERINGESEUINNE
BAHENRITESRIRSNSBEHIINT

2020 2019
2020 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") B (1))
usD ET
Euro (“"EUR") BT (BT ))

5,553 149
12,029 29,786
24 -

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out
in note 29.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 19. EZ REMBENRIEURES
ACCRUED EXPENSES B X
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade payables =) AN el 15,077 15,311
Accrued employee benefits st B fE T 6,733 8,237
Other payables and accrued expenses — E.fib B~ 3R I8 & JEET B 2 4,906 6,992
26,716 30,540
The credit period of trade payables is ranging from 30 to 90 B o RENFIENEERNTI0E0AH -
days.
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on THAZSEMNZENRESRAILZEER
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. HRZ 5| 2 BRER D AT ©
2020 2019
20204 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETE

Within 30 days 30BR 10,589 7,376
31 to 60 days 31260H 3,340 4,383
61 to 90 days 61290H 649 3,495
Over 90 days 90 HIA L 499 57

15,077 15,311

@R (RE) ERERDT 147
TECTEER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continveq
A MR e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 19. EZREMEMSREBURES
ACCRUED EXPENSES (continued) @)
Trade payables that are denominated in currencies other than NEEE BRI BB I EEEE
the functional currency of the relevant group entity: HE 5 e FRIE
2020 2019
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREEF T
usD ETT 5,579 8,734
20. LEASE LIABILITIES 20. HE&SE
2020 2019
2020 2019 &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Lease liabilities payable: EEERE
within one year —F R 15,070 15,318
Within a period of more than one year  #Bi@—F BTN HRBMFEH
but not more than two years HAfE A 10,931 15,558
Within a period of more than two years BB F1E TR B T FH
but not more than five years IS 22,844 29,708
Within a period of more than five years  #:@A e HIRI A 2,796 12,421
51,641 73,005
Less: Amount due for settlement within =~ 8 : REBI BB BT 12MBA R
12 months shown under current IS ENSRE
liabilities (15,070) (15,318)
Amount due for settlement after EMBEETET12EAE
12 months shown under IS RE
non-current liabilities 36,571 57,687
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

20. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 20. HEAE @)
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to FIT FE FB &9 hn # 7 £9 38 2 {8 FX T & 5 5.16%
lease liabilities is 5.16% (2019: 5.16%). (20194 : 5.16%) °
Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set HEaBEMNEER BRI BEENM
out in note 29. FE29 -
21. BANK BORROWING 21. SRITER
2020 2019
2020 £ 2019
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBET T

Bank borrowing — fixed rate and BITER — BEEFE R EER -

unsecured, repayable within one year AR —FNEE 10,000 -
The above borrowing as at 31 December 2020 is guaranteed by 202012 A318 - £ fE 3R R
Mr. Li JX. The effective interest rate is 4.85% per annum, which FERER - BERERNER4.85% - LAERES
is denominated in the functional currency of relevant group EHERHEEEE -
entity.

IR (FE) ZRERDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined

54 B S SRR BT S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. |7
Number of Share
shares capital
K8 E ;.3
HKS$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ERREE.0 B ITH T ER
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2019, R2019F 1818 ~ 2019F &
31 December 2019 and 2020 202012 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRERE
At 1 January 2019, R2019F1 818 ~ 2019F K&
31 December 2019 and 2020 202012 A31H 800,000,000 8,000,000
2020 2019
2020 2019
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AEBTT
Shown in the consolidated RERE B EK 25
statement of financial position 6,761 6,761
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
SO PBREN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020%12A31H 1FF/Z

23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 23. R EBRIRR S

Prior to the shares of the Company were successfully listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017, the Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 26 September 2017 which became
effective and unconditional upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

The Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following
the transfer of listing of the shares of the Company from GEM
to Main Board of the Stock Exchange and in full compliance
with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules. The
listing of the shares of the Company to be issued under the
Share Option Scheme have been transferred to the Main Board
on 19 December 2019 pursuant to the requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to the eligible persons as rewards or
incentives for their contribution to the Group. The Company
may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the eligible
persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share
Option Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares of
the Company, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue
at the time dealings in the shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange and there was no change in the total number of
shares of the Company available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued share capital
that it represented as at the date of this report.

A2 7 B9 A 2017 10 A 18 B 7E B &2
FrGEM X Ih LT AT - R R EIR 201769 A
26 A B G IR A EE AR A w21 ([ B AR A T
2 ERARBROEBRZM ETWEE
B R AGE o

AR R B GEM B =B BT 1R £
% BREFEDABRILER  X2E
e LmRAKMEMRTE - RIBEERE
8 T EITHARRBM 2N 2019F12 A
19 BRE EMARRIMEBEEREM

BREGENANRSARAREERA
ITREBEE  MEREBAKERLTE
B0 SRR SRR - AR AR 2EBISRT
EEMEBREENEMIERREEBRA
TREBERE  ARBALXRKND - AT
AR BB AR 5t 8 AN R BMEAT L A 5 &
R H PR B AR A BE BTV AR R B R
15 48 21 & £ 115 768 38 80,000,000 A% 9 28 2~
At BVE RN AAREER D%
TR B2 10% : TARIR B AR i =t 81 7]
HETHRRRROABEERARER
HIFTEME B TRAN B D LA EEF -

IR (FE) ZRERDE
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23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

At 31 December 2020, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme was 73,400,000 (2019: nil),
representing 9.175% (2019: nil) of the shares of the Company in
issue at that date. The total number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders. The number of shares issued and to
be issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the
Company's share capital must be approved in advance by the
Company's shareholders.

The Share Option Scheme remains in force for a period of 10
years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a 10-
year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the board
of directors of the Company. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company'’s share.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinves
A TSR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

23. ROEBARRS &)

R2020%F 12 A31H - BIFERETEE
BB R AT 0 A B AR AT S R A AR 10 BX
B A73,400,000% (20194 : &) » 8E »
RRARIRZ BB EITIRMN#99.175% (2019
F ) o REARARRELIE - BRIF
REAR ST 21 AT AE % I a0 B IR P08 R O AR
MBENEBBAARR RN EMRRRD T
A& 1D B9 10% o RAS N2 B IR = 5E b -
P fa] — S AR AT A B 52 R AT BB
B RENRIEFT S R BB BT G T RAITIRG
HFETFSBBARRANEAREEEITR
MHI1% ° MR FEZRRLBILIFNTE
ENEREBBRATRAN0.1% - BIZA
EARRAIRRELBLE -

BTSN 0FHNER B - IRIEB
PRt E > SHBERENITERRI0F
BIARFEZTERHERE - TEERAE
NAEFET  HBTESERATZES
EF (VAR RIRMOIRE L B HBERTE (i)
BOREZRFEL AT AEZERANFY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 23. R EBRARR S (@)

(Continued)

Details of options are as follows: BB T

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price

FHAMK BRER TEH TEEE

1 June 2020 N/A 1 June 2020 - HK$0.188
31 May 2030

2020F6 H1H NiE A 20200F6 H1HE 0.188 /%87t
203045 A31H

The following table discloses movements of the Share Option TRPEFABIRE 2 A

Scheme during the year:

Outstanding
Outstanding at
at Granted 31 December
1 January 2020 during year 2020
#2020 720205
181H 12A31H
ARITHE FEREH A RITE
Share option 2020 2020 FF & [ - 73,400,000 73,400,000
Exercisable at the end RERAITHE
of the year 73,400,000
Weighted average EFATHE
exercise price - HK$0.188 78 7T HK$0.188 78 7T
During the year ended 31 December 2020, share options were HZE2020F12A31BILEE  ETEE -
granted to certain directors, employees and non-employees on EBERIIEEEN2020F6 1R EZmESE
1 June 2020 with no vesting period. The estimated fair value of BHOERE - RZBREHMERENG
the options granted on that date is RMB5,612,000. FAFEAAREES612,0007T °

IR (FE) ZRERDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined

54 B S SRR BT S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 23. R ERARR S (@

(Continued)
The fair value was calculated using the Binomial model. The ZAFEDNMEAZERNERGE - ZER
inputs into the model were as follows: BB ABURIAT ¢
2020

20204
Share price of the Company at date of grant AARAFRL BHARRE HK$0.188 i# T
Exercise price TE(E HK$0.188 #& T
Expected volatility TEHAM IR 41.606%
Expected life FEEAF Hf 10 years
Risk-free rate 42 [ s ) =R 0.529%
Expected dividend yield T8 BAAR B s X 0.00%
Early exercise multiple for directors ERRPIEEH 2.800
Early exercise multiple for employees BEIRBITHEREH 2.200
Early exercise multiple for non-employees FREEIRBITEEE 2.200

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical price
volatilities of companies that are similar in business nature as

the Company.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB5,612,000
(2019: nil) for the year ended 31 December 2020 in relation to

share options granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the valuer’s
best estimate. The value of an option varies with different

variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
SO PBREN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

24.

25.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 24, BEAXRELE
2020 2019
20205 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREFT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not gtUs &2 - ME MR
provided in the consolidated financial BT EEANEGE
statements in respect of acquisition of IS RRBENE R
property, plant and equipment 632 7,193

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute 14% of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions. During both current and prior
years, the total amounts contributed by the Group to the
scheme and charged to the profit or loss represent
contributions paid/payable to the scheme by the Group at rate
specified in the rules of the scheme.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there
was no forfeited contribution available to reduce future
obligations. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
local government granted an exemption of social insurance
contributions for the sake of COVID-19 pandemic. The total
contributions made by the Group to the PRC retirement benefit
scheme for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
RMBS5,207,000 (2019: RMB14,099,000).

The Group has not participated in any defined contribution
scheme, in which the contribution payable by the Group can
be reduced by the amounts of forfeited contributions during
both years.

25. RKEFETE

AEEPEMBARNERSTEBMTE
EMBERERRABANEOKE - %W
J& A B AR AR MR B H14% % & 5K
A RENREHRER - AREFRK
BRI -—BEERELEEHRK - R
AEEMBEFE  AREAFEFEHYT
REBRINRHHREREE AR BIREIR
AlFEE R LR mEt BIE AT, FER AR o

E E2020F M2019F 12 A3 H IEFE -
BE 4 208 Wt SR AT AR 1B R A R AR R i
HE2020F12A31 B IEFE » #5BT
& COVID-19 %% £ M % T # % 1F - & 1R
PR - B 220200 12 A31HLFE -
REBE M ERNER G EED R HRE
A ANREES207,0007T (20194 « AR#E
14,099,000 7T) °

o

AEE Y\ EEREREREE - Bt
7% [ 70 R 4 PR A B fH SR ] H20R M4
BRI ©

IR (FE) ZRERDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
A BRI s

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220209 12831H 1+ F/&

26. DEFERRED TAXATION 26. ELEHIE
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Deferred tax assets EERIBAE = 385
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 456 -
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) NTRAFERBAFERERANEZRT
recognised and movements thereon during the current and MBAE(EE) REZS) :
prior years:
Right-of-use
assets Accelerated
/Lease Rental tax
liabilities deposits depreciation Total
ERiEEE ERE
HEAR HEHS e - hy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETTT

At 1 January 2019 R2019F181H - - - -
Credit to profit or loss for the year st AEREE (242) (143) - (385)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F 12 A31H (242) (143) - (385)
Charge (credit) to profitorloss — #0% ((f A) ERfEz

for the year (294) 28 1,107 841
At 31 December 2020 M2020%F 12 A31H (536) (115) 1,107 456
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues

NN bl D

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

26. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with the undistributed earnings of a
subsidiary established in the PRC for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised was RMB98,253,000 (2019:
RMB80,898,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised
in respect of these differences because the Group is in a
position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

There is no other significant unrecognised deferred taxation for
both years.

27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@) Related party balances/transactions

26.

27.

ERERIE ()

202012 A31H » M AR ERIELTHIEA
BEAE-EP EAIRME QR AR
DPRBFEENEREZBRAEAARE
98,253,0007T (20194 = A R % 80,898,000
TU) » WARGS EZRERETCHBERE
JR B R AN R [ B A 0 ) B R A B B A
B iz B2 BN ] RARHGET A A] gE Rl -

PAFEF E LB A E AR HERIEAETRIA

BABE S R
(@) BB THEER RS

2020 2019
20204 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBEFIT
Lease liabilities due to FERTRRIERNSE A4 - ZRERR S 4 -
Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming, REESEE  RREXER
Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and REEAENBEEEE FED
Mr. Li Jianwen (Note i) 1,126 1,726
Interest expenses on lease liabilities T2 @54 - ZREZAASE A -
paid to Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming, RIBESE RIBEXLER
Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and REEENTHESR
Mr. Li Jianwen ez 74 15
Purchase of consumer goods for own 7<= [ A 2R @ #7542 3252 1 5%
use by the Group from Guangzhou £ D B 40% K 20% HE s 1
Handpicked Wine Co. Ltd., an entity F&EMEVEEESFR AT
owned as to 40% by Mr. Li JX and BEHBMA B (M)
20% by Mr. Li Jiali (Note ii) 334 595

IR (FE) ZRERDE

R TEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

2 & B IS R 2 B S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 27. Eﬁﬂﬁ“fﬂﬂiﬁ(%)

(@) Related party balances/transactions (a)
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and Mr. Li Jianwen are brothers of
Mr. Li JX and Mr. Li Jianming. The rental expense is paid for the
office premise used by the Group in Guangzhou, the PRC. The
rental deposits paid to the landlord at the end of the reporting
period is set out in note 16.

Lease payment during the year as set out above has been made
by the Group. As at 31 December 2020, the corresponding
carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are
RMB1,126,338 and RMB1,108,192 respectively.

(i) Mr. Li Jiali is the senior management of the Group and the son of
Mr. Li JX.

(b) Guarantee provided by a related party (b)

The Group's bank borrowing as at 31 December 2020
(2019: nil) is guaranteed by Mr. Li JX, details of which are
set out in note 21.

(c) Compensation of key management (©)
personnel of the Company

8

Bt

(i)

TR R 5 (#)

RBEMATEREALLINNS -
SR T RAEBE AR B EM &
MAMEMZA - ARERREREE
SANHHERS BRI 16

EXFEFRBREMNRERNEDEL -
M2020F12A31H - HEBEBEREMA
BEEMHERDRESNIAARE
1,126,338 7L e AR 61,108,192 ¢ ©

RRNAERARENRRELERR
B TENTTF -

FAEE 7 IR A IR

ANEEH 720204 12 A 31 B R R1T1E
(2019 4F £ ) B BR{ T S A HEAR
FEEERMIEE21 -

AKRBEEEEAB M
2020 2019
20204 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®TT

Fees ik 354 272
Salaries and other allowances e MHMFR 3,598 2,040
Discretionary bonus BB IEAL 399 1,496
Retirement benefit scheme RKREAIFH B

contributions 90 203
Equity-settled share-based expense — LAPS#E 45 2~ B (D BRI X 1,621 -
Total 5T 6,062 4,011

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and
other key management personnel of the Company are
determined having regard to the performance of the
individuals.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

28.

29.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy for the current
year remains unchanged compared with previous years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net cash (2019:
net debt), which includes the lease liabilities and bank
borrowing disclosed in notes 20 and 21 respectively, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, various
reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
and the risks associated with each class of the capital. Based
on the recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(@) Categories of financial instruments

28.

29.

EXERERE

AEEERREER  BREBBLEHE
fEafE 2 T8 WRAREEAELE
R EERSNROH - AEBRFED
ERRWEBEFEMALARTE -

AEENERNRBERREREFHE(2019F ¢
ERFRR) (219 RIR K20 K& 21 HEEH
HEABRERTENR  HKRREMRSE
EMRARRHEE ARLELS (BREET
AR BIARKERREEN))

RRAREERTFEHWAERRE - ERZR
AR —E EFEEEBEERNMEEK
ARER EREENHEBER  A%H
BB - AR BT RO ED
AR ZBEITHERRBRIRE GBI F
MHEEBEARE -

2020 2019
2020 % 2019 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT
Financial assets TREE
At amortised cost R SR AT BR 156,678 141,249
Financial liabilities SREE
At amortised cost RS AR BR 28,442 18,168

IR (FE) ZRERDE

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. EMI A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, rental deposits, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, lease liabilities and
bank borrowing.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk
() Currency risk

Certain subsidiaries of the Group have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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AEENTECRIAREES A
b EWRIR - HERE - RITERR
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BERIRITER -
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2 (E¥RR - FEER)  FERR
MRBE SRR - BRIAIFEZS
FEBRHBEREN T - BEEEEER
EEZERE  ARREEEMILE
MBS B

WS EkE

) EERER
REEETHBREA RN
ETHHERERE  SA%KE
EERINE R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(i

29. @I A %)

() = rEREERFENMEER

policies (continued) (#)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
Currency risk (Continued) ()  EEEE(E)
The Group's currency risk is mainly attributable to AEBMNEBRREZFEAR
the exposure on outstanding bank balances, trade AN ST ERBRIRITAER -
receivables, and trade and other payables BHRWHIEURE S REM
denominated in foreign currencies. The carrying FER FRIE RIS o P& S A
amounts at the end of each reporting period are as ANERREIMENT :
follows:
Assets Liabilities
gE =R
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 2019 F 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT AR#®TT AREFT
HKD BT 5,553 149 -
usD EV 23,002 46,895 5,579 8,734
EUR BT 24 - - -
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to TRFMAREHE@INETT
a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against the BRI ES%E AL E E’J@(E’Z
relevant foreign currencies. 5% represents [E ° 5% 155 12 [E $ HNE [E 2
management’s assessment of the reasonably BRI B BRI A o @ﬁl!@?f;n

possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
negative number below indicates a decrease in
post-tax profit for the reporting period where RMB
strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign
currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

MEEEREEINEGTEER
T8 B 7 B R 5 5% # S
WEXZFHAEKRE - IUTA
BRTHARE LEBINET
B5% @ RS ME MRS
R A o AR XA RINE
f2E5%  HEHBRBRENE
FHARNTE -

RAYR (FE) ZERERAT
TECTEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

0]

29. €@ B

TREAREEBIZELRBER

policies (continued) (#)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
Currency risk (Continued) () EEmEE (&)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREST (&)
Post-tax profit
R &ET
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT NS
HKD BT (208) (6)
usb ET (657) (1,431)
EUR BT (1) -
Interest rate risk (i = b

(i)

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to lease liabilities (see note 20 for details)
and bank borrowing (see note 21 for details). The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to its bank balances in the PRC and Hong
Kong (see note 18 for details). The Group's cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any
interest rate movements based on interest rate
level and outlook. The Group did not use any
interest rate swap to hedge its interest rate risk
during both years.

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the management considers that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.
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21 REH R THERERER -
755 B IR B P B R B ERTT
EHBANESRENERR
(FBERW8) - REBEBE

EmEMNERBEEZEPRIR

TTRERN RS - REBER
ﬂﬁﬂ@?&ﬁﬁg BB E
M EEHEENEBEETEE
BHEF R o A KB R E
F AR AR 4 Y LA
RN ERER

HRNERERRTERITER
Eiﬁ’\]iﬁ@umgﬂrﬂ 2
EX - BHRES T TEIER
TTHERR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020%12A31H 1FF/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuead) 29. @I A %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) =rREkEREBEREBK

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under the ECL model on each individually significant or
credit-impaired trade balances and collectively for others
using provision matrix by grouping of trade debtors that
have similar historical loss patterns as reflected in the
debtors’ aging profiles, grouped by debtor balances that
are not yet due and different aging brackets of numbers
of days past due. The expected loss rates applied in the
assessments of the individually significant or credit-
impaired trade receivables and in the provision matrix
are estimated using the historical observed default rates
of the debtors taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonably and supportably available
without undue costs or effort. At the end of each
reporting period, these historical loss rates are
reassessed and updated if required after considering the
forward-looking information then available to the
directors of the Company. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

(#&)

FERBERBEN
AEBEREHNESEERRKER
AEBRSF I RERBITAEEMAES
B EE - ZRRTIRENAEB LR
BMBIRRETINFIACD RS A
BEMKREE -

AEENEERRIEREESEK
KB - RREREKEERR  A%E
AE‘EFE?JEE/J%EE\T#E EER
B EEMENREMERRSF - AR
RIRBURETE) Y @ B BRE TS © 1t
Sh - AKEREREEEREAY
BENEAKHRERERENE S
FOETTRIER S - WEBBERE
B (RBRAER A RRERAOL) B
HYE 5 FEUR IR 7 4B 1R (50 AR B AR feE
HEAME S EHETTRBRERS -
BARYE 5 R B HA 6 MRl SR A B e B
HIR BT RARER iﬁ}”ﬂl%_ﬁ’n\iﬁ &l
RIE AR HBREERENE 5 LK
TRRHE A R B AR e o P R TR HA S 1R
FREBANBEBEBREMGE
ERRERHANEXNARBEMS
BRI SERUSHBTIE L AR - RERE
HIR - RERARBEEER TS
HATIEEERHR - ST REBE R
FETUEHMFGERESN - Bt
5 ARARESARAKENEERR
BREREREE -

RAYR (FE) ZERERAT
TECTEER
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A IS RERM s

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

29. €M T B &)
tREAREEAZIBEER

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The credit risk on bank balances is also limited because

(#)
EERRERBERE (F)
HARBF T RARFBENRT &

the counterparties are banks with good reputations. RITHEBMEERBRITER °

The credit risk on other receivables and rental deposits is ARZEEHHEE - HFANEE
limited because of the nature of these balances, credit BB EETS: - BHEH M EYK
quality of the counterparties and the historical settlement BEREERSNEERRER -

record.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has concentration of MR2020F 12 A318  AEEEES
credit risk in trade receivables as 45% (2019: 45%) of the ERFIEEESTREK  BE SRR
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest FUBLEAR) 45% (2019 4F : 45%) A JE
customer. The Group's concentration of credit risk on the WAEEZAREFPHIE - REERT
top five largest customers accounted for 94% (2019: 95%) AEFPHEESFREBRER 202045
of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2020. 1ZAINEWME S EWRIBRTEL
The management of the Group considers the credit risk 94% (20194 : 95%) - REEEIREE
of amounts due from these customers is insignificant RE RNEEIBATEHE D KATE
after considering historical settlement records and HERE  ERZEEFPFIENEE
forward-looking information. BRI TERX o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

29. @I A %)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

T RE R EE B R R ER
(#)

EERRRBERE (F)
TRELAANEEAFEREERRN
ENEREENEERRMA :

assessment:
2020 2019
20204 20194
External Internal Gross Gross
credit credit 12m carrying carrying
rating rating or lifetime ECL amount amount
12 FER
SMBEEER  ADEHTR FUNGEEER REAE FEgE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
His AR®BTR AREF T
Financial assets
at amortised cost
REBREEN
SMEE
Trade receivables 17 N/A Note i Lifetime ECL 70,519 65,018
(not credit-impaired)
Z S M EA TEA BizEi FENEHEERE
(EEEERE)
Other receivables 17 N/A Note ii 12m ECL 1,425 1,715
HioElzoa E A Bt i NEABHEESE
Rental deposits 16 N/A Note i 12mECL 9,769 3,097
HEZRE TiEfA Btz 2EAESEEEE
Bank balances 18 Prime-1 N/A 12m ECL 74,925 71,387
BTk Prime-1:F4% el NEABHEESSE

@R (RE) ERERDT 145
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220209 12831H 1+ F/&

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL for individually significant or
credit-impaired trade debtor and collectively for others using a
provision matrix. During the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, the Group considers that allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables is insignificant.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the 10ss
allowance at 12m ECL as there is no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. The Group determines the ECL for
other receivables and rental deposits by assessment of probability
of default and loss given default. During the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019, in view of the nature of the balances
and historical default rate, the Group considers that allowance for
credit losses of other receivables and rental deposits is
insignificant.
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29. €@ B

TRUAEREE B R NBR
(#)

FERBRRBERE(E)
HsE

(i) HRESREKEMNS  AEECEAE
B BREERE IR EENRTE
HEMEREERIEHERE - ~5H
EEENERLHREERENE 5E
WA EEERE - WEAREE
BAREEEMESBEBANEREE
& 18 o # £ 20204 [ 2019412 A31H
WLFE - AEERBRE S RYGKENE
EERRBYTEX -

(i) RABEERREEMNS  AEEEE
REBMBEREEMEIR —RENIR
12EABREEBRFEFHEEG T
RPME B AL B V) SRR LA R I 4% KR
B AERBEBFEIER AN LE
HERAEETREMERUGEAREERS
IREA(E B 18 - BlZ 20206 ) 20194
12A3NALEFE  ERZEEBOUE
FOBERRE - AEER A H MK
BERAERENEEBERELTEX -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to

pay.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest rates are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

29. @I A %)

(b)

RIERERBZEBER
(&)

RBESAR
EERRDESARE  AEEEE
PREHRS RESSEYNERE
RARNENAEESELRERS
RERDEEMKT - AEEERE
ERRITEROEAEN - TREE
SPE I o

TRHNREBEFTESRABENR
BRANWHR - RBCRAKEATHN
FHRFAPNERABRTRAS

MEBHIE

RBBRMNERASRERE © i F
KRFR - AR BEH RS AR

PR EISHE -

IR (FE) ZRERDE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables
As at 31 December 2020

29. €@ B

(b)

TRIRERERBZEREK
(&)

RBESER(E)
B E L KK
#2020 12A31H

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  on demand Total amount at
effective  orless than 1-3  3monthsto 1-5 Over5 undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1month months 1year years years cash flows 2020
120205
miEFy BEXEEL E3it) 12A31R
RRflE HYR1ER 1238 3BAEE 1858 S5ENE  RRRE4E HIEEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABRETR ABRTR ABRTR ABRRTR ABRTR ABRTR ABRRTT
Non-derivative FiiEeMAR
financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 25 R EfufEfs 508 - 13,954 3,989 499 - - 18,442 18,442
Bank borrowing FITEH 4.85 40 121 10,193 - - 10,354 10,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 5.16 1472 2,975 13,036 37,513 2,952 57,948 51,641
15,466 7,085 23728 31,513 2,952 86,744 80,083

As at 31 December 2019 ®2019%12A31H
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective orless than 1-3 3months to 1-5 Over5  undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month months 1 year years years cash flows 2019

R019F
MEFH AR 127318
BRI 1Z3f8R JEAEE 1258 SENE BaRsgg MEmE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT
Non-derivative FiiESMAR
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 & £t (4 508 - 10233 7878 57 - - 18,168 18,168
Lease liabiities %Eff, & 5.16 1,59 4784 12300 51917 13002 83,602 73005
11832 12,662 12,357 51917 13,002 101,770 91,173
(C) Fairvalue © AFE

The management considers that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the end of the reporting period
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

B ERARIRERRNEG S R
ARPIRE AR AN EE 2 B
BEMEBABENRTERELRATE
BE - BELFECERTRADR
ENTE—RAREBRAETE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  30. EFEBIELENEEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TERFAVNAEEERBESTHEENEEE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash ) BRERECRIERSEH amEED
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those EENEBEBREMEYNIKRKIRERN
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, ERRALEENGEREERERNDER
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows WA EEELRSRENAE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for H £2019F M2020F 12 A3 B IEFEH
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2020: BMEEBEENAEHE
Total
liabilities
from
Bank Lease financing
borrowing liabilities activities
MEERBEE
SMITH™R HEAR B#AE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBT T ARBT T

As at 1 January 2019 M20199F1H81H - 53,085 53,085
Financing cash flows MEESRE - (18,397) (18,397)
Non-cash changes: IEIE 5 B -
New leases entered R HE - 35,403 35,403
Interest expense on HEBENEMX

lease liabilities - 2,914 2,914
At 31 December 2019 ®K2019612 5318 - 73,005 73,005
Financing cash flows BMERERE 9,869 (19,301) (9,432)
Non-cash changes: Elsieny
New leases entered/lease EINTRE HEBSR

modified = (5,370) (5,370)
Interest expense on RITEFRAERX

bank borrowing 131 - 131
Interest expense on lease HEBEMNERAX

liabilities - 3,307 3,307
At 31 December 2020 720204 12 A 31 H 10,000 51,641 61,641

AR (PE) BRERAT 169
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

2 & B IS R 2 B S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220204 12H31H 1 F/Z

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31. &AQ R MR TR #HE

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
20205 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FERBDEE
Investment in subsidiaries KB AT RRE 53,509 53,509
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables H b fEU R IA 89 240
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHR MRS 116 124
205 364
CURRENT LIABILITIES g A=K
Other payables and accrued expenses HAth S =R IE KRR R S 453 4,679
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETF B A T EIE 19,560 11,923
20,013 16,602
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAESRE (19,808) (16,238)
NET ASSETS HESE 33,701 37,271
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BE R R
Share capital RN 6,761 6,761
Reserves s 26,940 30,510
TOTAL EQUITY R 33,701 37,271
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R A S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The following are the movements of the Company’s reserves
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020:

31. AT BERRRE#E @

AT B & ZE20194F & 2020F 12 A31H Ik
EEARTNEERD

Share-bhased
Share Other payment Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
2301
BinidE H At G4 R TR RE RitER #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note)
(Hrit)
At 1 January 2019 R201961818 37,763 20,095 - (16,972) 40,886
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE K 2R X #5E
expense for the year - - - (10,376) (10,376)
At 31 December 2019 R2019E12 A31H 37,763 20,095 - (27,348) 30510
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE k2 ERE T 25
expense for the year - - - (9,182) (9,182)
Recognition of equity-settled  HRLARIELZ 2
share-based payments BRI ERT - - 5,612 - 5612
At 31 December 2020 R2020%6 12 A 318 37,763 20,095 5,612 (36,530) 26,940

Note: The balance represents the amounts due to certain shareholders of the
Company capitalised as contributions therefrom in 2017.

Bfet : RAERRIER 2017 FEAME AT ENMEN AR

BB -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A BRI s

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220209 12831H 1+ F/&

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December
2019 and 2020 are as follows:

32. B A BFHE
AN A M B A AR 2019 4 KX 2020412 A
3NMBHFBOT

Issued and
fully paid Equity interest
Place and date of share capital/ attributable to
incorporation/  Place of registered the Company as at Form of
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation capital 31 December Principal activities company
iEme/ BRITRBE R12A31A
] VNGEE BRI EER B e BE/ HEREE FOTMILRE TERE G
2020 2019
20205 2019F
Directly held by the Company:
FLTBRRE
Goal Rise Logistics British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong US$100 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability
Investments Limited ("BVI")
28 November 2016
BAMTREABRAR LERLHES(ZE &% 100£7 RERR BRAR
RLEHE])
016F11 A 28H
Goal Rise Logistics (Overseas) BVI Hong Kong US$100 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability
Investments Limited 1 August 2018
AR BN REBRARA ABELES X0 100£7 RERR BRAR
2018F8A1H
Indirectly held by the Company:
ARFERRE
Guangzhou World-Link (Note J) The PRC The PRC RMB30,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of transportation,  Limited liability
27 November 1996 (209: warehousing, in-plant
RMB35,000,000) logistics and customisation
services
BMPEIRT (L) e e AR 30,000,007 REE  BE - BRAR
199 %11 A 27 H (2019% BRI EE 2R
AR 35,000,0007C)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)
A SRR e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 22020412431 H 1FF/Z

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. B ARFE®)

Issued and
fully paid Equity interest
Place and date of share capital/ attributable to
incorporation/  Place of registered the Company as at Form of
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation capital 31 December Principal activities company
ML BRTREME ®12A318
MELERE BRIBR A ety 2. 94323 FOTEGRE TERE LFEER
2020 2019
2020 2019F
Indirectly held by the Company (Continued):
FRAEGERE(E) -
Goal Rise Logistics (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability
2 December 2016
BAME(EH) BRAR Y Bk 18T REHR BRAR
M16F 12728
Goal Rise Logistics (Global) Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability
7 August 2018
BAMERR)BRAR Y Bk 100787 REHR BRAR
01858 A7H
Goal Rise Logistics Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability
(International) Limited 7 August 2018
A (BB BRAR BE Bk 100787 REHR BRAR
01858 A7H
Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited  Egypt Egypt EGP50,000 100% 100%  Provision of transportation ~ Limited liability
22 October 2018 Services
BAME R BRAR KR KR 50,000%& R4 RAERRI BRAR
018F 107 22H
Notes: Biat -
(i) Guangzhou World-Link is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in 0] BIMNFEIRF RN ER RN BERE -
the PRC.
(ii) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the (ii) AR A R B R RS BRI EF E T r
reporting period or at any time during both years. BT ERES -

IR (FE) ZRERDE

]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea)

2 & B IS R 2 B S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # 220209 12831H 1+ F/&

33. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into new lease agreements
for the use of office premises/forklifts for 2 to 5 years. On the
lease commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use
assets of RMB3,560,000 (2019: RMB35,686,000) and lease
liabilities of RMB3,558,000 (2019: RMB35,403,000).
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FEFRERS

RERN - AEEREARAEMEX&E
RINHEERE  BH2ESF - RHEERH
B ANEERERERREEARE
3,560,0007T (20194 : AR#E35,686,0007T)
K EAE & AR35580007T (20194 ¢
AR ¥ 35,403,0007T) °



Financial Summary
B2

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements or the
Prospectus of the Company is set out below:

ERARBENAEEREMBFENREAREER
BESE(REAARACD TENEEXSEARN
BMEASANRRRBEER) #IIT

RESULTS E4
For the year ended 31 December
#X12A31HLLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
2016 F 2017 F 2018 F 2019 F 2020
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIT ARBTIT AREBTT ARBTT AR®TRE

Revenue Wz 153,975 192,075 211,271 209,750 185,198
Profit before taxation LR E T 19,885 13,280 30,270 15,956 7,014
Income tax expenses FrSFiFA X (5,778) (6,342) (8,033) (6,635) (4,551)
Profit for the year FRNm A 14,107 6,938 22,237 9,321 2,463
Attributable to: AT & 77 A
— owners of the Company — A&RAE#HEB A 5,697 6,938 22,237 9,321 2,463
— non-controlling interests — JEiEA& s 8,410 - - - -

14,107 6,938 22,237 9,321 2,463
Note: Bzt -

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had first applied HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 15. The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions
set out in HKFRS 9 and has not applied the requirements to instruments that have
already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 and has applied HKFRS 15
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). Accordingly, certain financial
information for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 as set out above may not
be comparable to the years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018 as such
comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18 and HKAS 39.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first
time and has elected the applicable practical expedient for not reassess contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2019). The financial
information as set out above for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2017 and 2016
have therefore not been restated on initial application of HKFRS 16.

HZE2018F 12 AN BILFE  AEEERERBEBMBRELE
QB IR RBEBHBERELAEISH - AEECREEBHG
REERE TN BE G EREEVNBREEAE I -
BYESZSRERANR2018E1A1BERLEERNITA I
EEPERABESMERE LIS MEREAZENHR
SAEENERERBB(BI2018F 1 A18) R « Bt © LA
HEZE217ER2016F 12 A31 A L FENE THEER K ®
A ERA ZE 20204 ~ 2019 2018 12 AMA L EEREK - R
RAAERBLERERDREBEESBEGIERE 18K RESS 4]
EIVREE -

HZE2019F12A31BILFE - A&BEE HREREBTBRE
ERE165  WERREAERBEERE  TEEHIERE
RERBE(AN2019F1 A1 B)AIEFENA L - Bt - EXAT
HEE 20184 - 2017 E K 2016F 12 AN A L EE M BER
WERNEXEREBHIEREENE 165RFED -

IR (FE) ZRERDE

R TEER
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Financial Summary ontines

7&4( EE 4= )
B B w
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
®12A31H

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

20164 2017 5 2018 4F 20194 2020

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTIT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®BTRT

Total assets WEE 84,499 125,523 155,204 235,602 228,026

Total liabilities FN=Er (61,451) (30,918) (38,362)  (109,439)  (93,788)

Net assets BETE 23,048 94,605 116,842 126,163 134,238

Equity attributable to the ARG #HA A
owners of the Company FE(E e 23,048 94,605 116,842 126,163 134,238
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